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The aggregate market value of the registrant’s Common Stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant on June 30, 2012 (based on the June 29, 2012
closing price of the registrant’s Common Stock, as reported by the New York Stock Exchange on such date) was approximately $674 million. For purposes
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SIGNATURES

F I N A N C I A L STATEMENT SCHEDULE

Forward-Looking Statements
This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the
meaning of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 regarding the Company’s
plans, expectations, estimates and beliefs. Forward-looking statements are
typically identified by words such as “believes,” “anticipates,” “estimates,”
“expects,” “intends,” “will,” “may,” “should,” “could,” “potential,”
“projects,” “approximately” and other similar expressions, including
statements regarding pending litigation, general economic conditions,
competitive dynamics and the adequacy of capital resources. These
forward-looking statements may include, among other things, projections of
the Company’s financial performance, anticipated growth and expansion,
characterization of and the Company’s ability to control contingent
liabilities, and anticipated trends in the Company’s businesses. These
statements are only predictions, based on the Company’s current
expectation about future events. Although the Company believes the
expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, it
cannot guarantee future

Source: KAYDON CORP, 10-K, February 21, 2013

results, performance or achievements or that predictions or current
expectations will be accurate. These forward-looking statements involve
risks and uncertainties that could cause the Company’s actual results,
performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or
implied by the forward-looking statements.

In addition, the Company or persons acting on its behalf may from
time to time publish or communicate other items that could also be
construed to be forward-looking statements. Statements of this sort are or
will be based on the Company’s estimates, assumptions, and projections
and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to
differ materially from those included in the forward-looking statements.
Kaydon does not undertake any responsibility to update its forward-looking
statements or risk factors to reflect future events or circumstances except to
the extent required by applicable law. For a specific discussion of the risks
and uncertainties that could affect the Company’s financial condition
and/or operating results, please refer to Item 1A. Risk Factors herein.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General Development of Business
Kaydon Corporation (the “Company” or “Kaydon”) is a leading
designer and manufacturer of custom engineered, performance-critical
products supplying a broad and diverse customer base. At the time of its
1983 incorporation, Kaydon was principally involved in the design and
manufacture of bearings and components, as well as filters and filter
housings. Since 1984, we have pursued a diversified growth strategy in the
manufacturing sector. Our principal products now include bearings and
components, filters and filter housings, custom rings, shaft seals, linear
deceleration and vibration isolation products, specialty balls, fuel cleansing
systems, gas-phase air filtration systems and replacement media, industrial
presses and metal alloy products. These products are used by customers in
a variety of aerospace, defense, specialized robotics, medical, alternative
energy, material handling, machine tool positioning, security, electronic and
other industrial applications. We perform as an extension of our customers’
engineering and manufacturing functions, with a commitment to identify
and provide engineered solutions to design problems through technical
innovation, cost-effective manufacturing and outstanding value-added
service. We have grown both organically through strategic investments in
our business and through acquisitions. In April 2011, we purchased all of
the outstanding shares of HAHN-Gasfedern GmbH and related real estate
and intangible property (“Hahn”) from Ulrich Hahn e.K. Hahn
manufactures and sells high quality gas springs, tension springs and
dampers for diverse industrial markets. In June 2012, we purchased all of
the outstanding shares of Fabreeka Group Holdings, Inc. (“Fabreeka”).
Fabreeka is a leading provider of engineered vibration-isolation and shockcontrol products, including isolation pads, isolation mounts and highly
engineered vibration solutions. Fabreeka and Hahn are in our Velocity
Control Products segment.

Fiscal 2012 was an important transition year for Kaydon. After a
period of exceptional growth in our military and wind energy businesses
that spanned much of the decade preceding the global recession and
financial crisis of 2009, recent years saw declines

in both of these markets as the aftershocks of 2009 have created new
market realities, notably fiscal austerity in most developed nations. In
September 2012, we initiated a restructuring of our turntable and slewing
bearings business, as described below, to align capacity with current
market needs while maintaining our leadership positions and long-term
capability to serve these markets.
In support of our wind energy growth initiative, from 2006 through
2009 we invested more than $80 million in our capacity expansion
program. This expansion provided us with a significantly increased
capability to supply large diameter turntable bearings principally to wind
turbine manufacturers and allowed us to maintain our leadership position in
this market. Annual sales to wind energy customers, which are recorded in
the Friction Control Products segment, were $55.4 million, $54.3 million,
$95.9 million, $103.0 million and $80.5 million, in 2012, 2011, 2010,
2009 and 2008, respectively, compared to $32.9 million in 2007. In the
third quarter of 2012, the Company completed a comprehensive evaluation
of its wind energy bearings business to align capacity with expected future
market needs and decided to restructure this line of business. The decision
to restructure this line of business was in response to existing and expected
conditions in the wind and military markets resulting from the effects of the
global financial crisis, worldwide fiscal austerity, the emergence of new
shale gas extraction techniques and regulatory uncertainty at that time in the
United States including uncertainty regarding the expiration of the federal
Production Tax Credit (PTC), a federal per kilowatt hour tax incentive
available to producers of electricity generated by wind facilities placed in
service prior to December 31, 2012. The restructuring includes (i) the noncash impairment of wind energy production equipment in Monterrey,
Mexico and Sumter, South Carolina, certain portions of which are currently
held for sale and certain portions of which will be held and used to service
select wind energy customers; (ii) the consolidation of one of the Company’s
three facilities in Sumter, South Carolina, previously devoted to the wind
energy and military ground vehicle markets, into other Company
operations; and (iii) workforce reductions and realignments in those
facilities. In addition, the Company has incurred, and expects to incur,
costs associated with the shutdown of the Sumter facility and transition
costs related to the relocation of certain production capacity. The
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Company expects that the restructuring will be substantially complete by
the end of 2013, potentially subject to continuing efforts to sell equipment
and the Sumter, South Carolina facility noted above. Therefore, in the third
quarter of 2012 the Company recorded a pre-tax non-cash impairment
charge of $43.0 million associated with the wind restructuring. As a result
of the long lead times necessary to complete wind energy production
facilities to meet the December 31, 2012 placed in service requirement of the
PTC, wind energy orders were modest in 2012. On January 1, 2013, the
PTC was renewed for all wind energy facilities that start construction before
December 31, 2013. While the extension of the PTC is expected to be
beneficial, the expected timing of future orders and related product
shipments remain uncertain. By rightsizing to reflect current market
realities, we have adjusted manufacturing capacity and lowered fixed
operating costs to provide enhanced operating leverage and position us for
margin expansion when business conditions return to more consistently
robust levels.
We have global operations with considerable opportunity to further
expand organically. We intend to leverage our brands, reputation, expertise
and customer base to gain a greater share of our customers’ business and
deeper penetration in existing and adjacent markets. We also intend to
opportunistically pursue both complementary “bolt-on” acquisitions and
acquisitions of larger, free standing businesses that meet our qualitative
criteria within the industrial sector.

Industry Segments
We operate through operating segments for which separate financial
information is available, and for which operating results are evaluated
regularly by the Company’s chief operating decision maker to determine
resource allocation and assess performance. Certain of the operating
segments have similar economic characteristics, as well as other common
attributes, including nature of the products and production processes,
distribution patterns and classes of customers. We aggregate these operating
segments for reporting purposes. Information for those operating segments
that do not meet the aggregation criteria to form a reporting segment is
combined and disclosed as “Other Industrial Products.”

2

We have two reportable segments and other operating segments engaged
in the manufacture and sale of the following:

Friction Control Products – complex components used in aerospace,
defense, specialized robotics, medical, alternative energy, security,
electronic, material handling, construction and other industrial applications.
Products include anti-friction bearings, split roller bearings and specialty
balls.

Velocity Control Products – complex components used in specialized
robotics, material handling, machine tool, medical, amusement and other
industrial applications. Products include industrial shock absorbers, safety
shock absorbers, velocity controls, gas springs, rotary dampers, vibrationisolation and shock-control products, including isolation pads, isolation
mounts and highly engineered vibration solutions.

Other Industrial Products – complex and standard ring and seal
products, filter elements and liquid and gas-phase filtration systems, metal
alloys, machine tool components, presses, dies and benders used in a
variety of applications.
Net sales related to our two reportable segments and our other operating
segments during 2012, 2011 and 2010 are set forth in the following table:
2012
Friction Control Products
Velocity Control Products
Other Industrial Products
Total consolidated net sales

$257,955
106,504

110,745
$ 475,204

2011
(in thousands)
$255,025
89,766
115,329
$ 460,120

2010
$ 299,009

60,208
104,771
$463,988

See the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Note 11) contained in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data for additional information on the Company’s reportable segments.

Sophisticated industrial technology plays a significant role in all of
our segments in the design, engineering and manufacturing of our products.
Due to the custom engineered and proprietary nature of our products,
critical manufacturing is done in-house and subcontractors are utilized for
occasional specialized services. Products are manufactured utilizing a
variety of precision metalworking and other process technologies often after
working
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closely with customers to engineer the required solution to their design and
performance challenges.

We sell our products in each segment through a sales organization
consisting of salespersons and representatives located primarily throughout
North America, Europe and Asia. Salespersons are trained to provide
technical assistance to customers, as well as to serve as a liaison between
our factory engineering staffs and our customers. Also, a global network of
specialized distributors and agents provides local availability of our
products to serve the requirements of customers. In 2012, 2011 and 2010,
several of our operating units had sales to various business units of the
General Electric Company and its affiliates (“GE”) totaling, in aggregate,
approximately 10.6 percent, 9.9 percent, and 16.6 percent of total sales,
respectively. No other customer accounted for 10 percent or more of our total
sales in 2012, 2011 or 2010. While the loss of any substantial customer,
including GE, could have a material short-term impact on our business, we
believe that our diverse client base and diverse product offerings should
reduce the long-term impact of any such loss.

We do not consider our business in any segment to be seasonal in
nature or to have special working capital requirements. Compliance with
federal, state and local regulations relating to the discharge of materials into
the environment, or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment,
is not expected to result in material capital expenditures by us or to have a
material adverse effect on our earnings or competitive position. In general,
raw materials required by the Company are attainable from various sources
and in the quantities desired. Various provisions of federal law and
regulations require, under certain circumstances, the renegotiations of
military procurement contracts or the refund of profits determined to be
excessive. We believe, based on experience, that no material renegotiations or
refunds will be required under our contracts related to military procurement.
We have not made any public announcement of, or otherwise made public
information about, a new product or a new industry segment which would
require the investment of a material amount of our assets or which would
otherwise result in a material cost in the future.

Backlog

We sell certain products on a build-to-order basis that require
substantial order lead-time. This results in a backlog of unshipped,
scheduled orders. In addition, certain products are manufactured on the
basis of sales projections or annual blanket purchase orders. We define
backlog as orders shippable in the upcoming 18 months.

Variability in backlog is affected by the timing of orders received,
particularly when larger customers pull forward or push out major orders.
Backlog by reporting segment is presented below:
December 31,

December 31,

2011

2012
(in thousands)
Friction Control Products
Velocity Control Products
Other Industrial Products
Total

$ 81,738
21,974
39,768
$143,480

$ 128,927
13,173
39,534
$ 181,634

Patents and Trademarks
We hold various patents, patent applications, licenses, trademarks
and trade names. We consider patents, patent applications, licenses,
trademarks and trade names to be valuable, but do not believe that there is
any reasonable likelihood of a loss of such rights which would have a
material adverse effect on our present business as a whole.
Competition
The major domestic and foreign markets for our products are highly
competitive. Competition is based primarily on price, product engineering
and performance, technology, quality and overall customer service, with the
relative importance of such factors varying by degree among products. Our
competitors include a large number of other well-established diversified
manufacturers, as well as other smaller companies. Although a number of
companies of varying size compete with us, no single competitor is in
substantial competition with us with respect to more than a few of its
product lines and services.
KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K
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Employees
We employ approximately 2,187 people. We generally have
satisfactory relationships with our employees.

International Operations
Certain friction control products are manufactured in Mexico and the
United Kingdom and certain velocity control products are manufactured,
assembled and distributed through facilities in Germany. We have expanded
in China where we produce friction control products and velocity control
products. In addition, within all segments, we distribute an array of
products principally throughout North America, Europe and Asia. Our
foreign operations are subject to political, monetary, economic and other
risks attendant generally to international businesses. These risks generally
vary from country to country.
See the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Note 11) contained in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data for additional information on the Company’s operations by geographic

area.

Available Information
Our internet address is www.kaydon.com. Our annual reports on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K,
proxy statements and amendments to all such reports and statements are
accessible at no charge on our website as soon as reasonably practicable
after filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Also accessible
on our website under “Corporate Governance” are our Corporate Governance
Guidelines, our Codes of Ethics, and the charters of the various committees
of our Board of Directors. These items are also available in print at no
charge to those who direct a request in writing to us. We do not intend for
the information contained on our website to be a part of this Annual Report.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
The following risk factors could affect our financial condition and/or
operating results.

4

Our customers’ economic cycles may affect our operating results and
financial condition.
Many of our customers are in industries that are cyclical in nature and
sensitive to changes in general economic conditions and other factors,
including capital spending levels. Such industries include commercial
aerospace, specialty electronics manufacturing equipment, power
generation, off-road and heavy industrial equipment, and other capital
equipment manufacturing. As a result, the demand for our products by
these customers depends, in part, upon general economic conditions.
Historically, downward economic cycles have reduced customer demand for
our products, thereby reducing sales of our products and resulting in
reductions to our revenues and earnings. In addition, our military sales are
dependent on government funding. Sales to our wind energy customers have
been volatile due to the effects of the global financial crisis, worldwide fiscal
austerity, the emergence of new shale gas extraction techniques and
continued regulatory uncertainty in the United States including uncertainty
in 2012 regarding the expiration of the federal Production Tax Credit
(“PTC”) on December 31, 2012. Although on January 1, 2013, the PTC
was renewed, the effect of this on our future results is uncertain. The timing
and sustainability of worldwide economic growth in 2013 is also uncertain
and if economic conditions do not remain at current levels or if conditions
deteriorate our results of operations could be adversely affected.

Certain of our markets are significantly affected by government funding
and incentives. The ability and intent of the government to continue to
fund programs at historic levels may change in the current and future
economic and political environment. Reduced government funding for
products in these markets may affect our operating results and financial
condition.
We provide components to the military product programs that our
customers sell to the federal government. Defense spending in the last decade
to support military actions in Iraq and Afghanistan has been significant. In
addition, certain of our products are used in industries including the wind
energy industry that rely, in part, on government incentives. The ability and
intent of the government to fund military programs and provide incentives
to certain

KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K
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industries may decline. The U.S. Budget Control Act of 2011 (the “BCA”)
incorporates planned reductions in defense funding for the next ten years.
The federal government reached short term agreement on fiscal cliff funding
issues, but faces deadlines in 2013 to resolve additional budget and
spending matters. If agreements are not achieved on these matters, certain
sequester provisions in the BCA will require automatic spending reductions
which may affect certain programs where we are subcontractors. While the
magnitude, timing and specific effects of reduced governmental defense
spending are unknown, we expect that reduced defense spending will occur
and may affect our operating results and financial condition.
The fiscal cliff agreements reached by the federal government in early
2013 included an extension of the PTC for wind energy projects started
before December 31, 2013. Therefore, the possible renewal of this incentive
for projects started after January 1, 2014 will require additional
governmental action in an uncertain economic and political environment.
The delay or absence of the extension of the PTC beyond December 31,
2013, may affect our operating results and financial condition.

Increased competition in our key markets could result in a reduction in
our revenues and earnings and adversely affect our operating results
and financial condition.
The industries in which we operate are fragmented and we face
competition from multiple companies across our various product lines. We
expect competitive pressures from new products and aggressive pricing to
increase, which may cause us to lose market share or compel us to reduce
prices to remain competitive, which could result in reduced levels of
revenues and earnings. Our competitors include U.S. and nonU.S. companies, some of which benefit from lower labor costs and fewer
regulatory burdens. In addition, certain competitors, including Eaton,
Timken, SKF, Schaeffler and ITT, are larger than Kaydon and may have
access to greater financial, technical, development, marketing,
manufacturing, sales and distribution services and other resources.
Increased competition with these

companies or new entrants to our key markets could prevent price increases
for our products or could require price reductions for our products, which
could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, growth
or liquidity.

Future acquisitions may require us to incur costs and liabilities or have
other unexpected consequences which may adversely affect our
operating results and financial condition.
In addition to internal growth, our current strategy involves growth
through acquisitions of complementary businesses as well as acquisitions
that would diversify our product offerings. Like other companies with
similar growth strategies, we may be unable to continue to implement our
growth strategy, and this strategy may be ultimately unsuccessful. A
portion of our expected future growth in revenues may result from
acquisitions. We frequently engage in evaluations of potential acquisitions
and negotiations for possible acquisitions, certain of which, if
consummated, could be significant to us. Although it is our general
objective only to acquire companies in transactions which will be accretive
to both earnings and cash flow, any potential acquisitions may result in
material transaction expenses, increased interest and amortization expense,
increased depreciation expense and increased operating expense, any of
which could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.
Acquisitions may entail integration and management of the acquired
businesses to realize economies of scale and control costs. In addition,
acquisitions may involve other risks, including diversion of management
resources otherwise available for ongoing development of our business and
risks associated with entering new markets. We may not be able to identify
suitable acquisition candidates in the future, obtain acceptable financing or
consummate any future acquisitions. Finally, as a result of our acquisitions
of other businesses, we may be subject to the risk of unanticipated business
uncertainties or legal liabilities relating to those acquired businesses for
which the sellers of the acquired businesses may not indemnify us. Future
acquisitions may also result in potentially dilutive issuances of securities.

KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K
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Political, economic and regulatory conditions inherent in the
international markets in which we participate could adversely affect our
operating results and financial condition.
Typically, sales of our products from our foreign subsidiaries and
from our domestic businesses selling to foreign locations account for
approximately 40 percent of net sales. These foreign sales could be adversely
affected by changes in various foreign countries’ political and economic
conditions, trade protection measures, differing intellectual property rights
and changes in regulatory requirements that restrict the sales of our
products or increase our costs.
We generate significant revenues outside the United States. Currency
fluctuations between the U.S. dollar and the currencies in which our current
customers do business may have an impact on the demand for our products
in foreign countries where the U.S. dollar has increased in value compared
to the local currency. We cannot predict the effects of exchange rate
fluctuations upon our future operating results because of the number of
currencies involved, the variability of currency exposure and the potential
volatility of currency exchange rates.

Relationships with customers and effective terms of sale frequently
vary by country, often with longer-term receivables than are typical in the
United States.

Our critical performance products expose us to potential litigationrelated costs which may adversely affect our operating results and
financial condition.
As a provider of critical performance products in a variety of
industries including alternative energy, aerospace, defense, specialized
robotics, medical, material handling, machine tool positioning and other
industrial applications, we face a risk of exposure to claims in the event that
the failure, use or misuse of our products results, or is alleged to result, in
bodily injury and/or property damage.
In the past, costs related to legal proceedings and settlements have had
a material effect on our

6

business, financial condition, results of operations and liquidity. The
ultimate cost of current known or future unknown litigation and claims
could exceed management’s current expectations and it is possible that such
costs could have a material adverse effect on the Company. In addition,
litigation is time consuming and could divert management attention and
resources away from our business.

Following our efforts to restructure our wind energy production
capacity, if the wind energy market does not stabilize or declines, our
operating results and financial condition may be adversely affected.
In 2012, we announced our wind energy restructuring to reduce wind
energy production capacity. The restructuring included the recognition of an
impairment charge of $43.0 million, the anticipated sale of production
equipment with a book value of $6.5 million classified as held for sale and
the expected disposal of an owned facility that produced large turntable
bearings. We retained sufficient production capacity capable of producing
turntable bearings in diameters of 5 feet to 12 feet in our facilities
principally in Monterrey, Mexico, to continue to meet anticipated demand
for wind energy bearings. While this equipment is also capable of
producing large diameter turntable bearings for other of our markets, we
face a risk of exposure to sales and earnings volatility if the wind industry
is further affected by conditions in the capital markets, attracts new
competition or loses certain governmental incentives, or other energy sources
become more competitive, and we are unsuccessful in reallocating a portion
of any resulting excess capacity to other markets. If the wind industry is
adversely affected by these factors, we may not be able to sell the
production equipment held for sale and the owned facility that we intend to
dispose of at prices at or above carrying value, or if the market does not
fully support our remaining production capacity investment, we could
experience an impairment of our remaining wind energy capacity
investment.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
The following list sets forth the location of our principal
manufacturing facilities for each reportable segment:
Reportable Segment

Location

Friction Control Products

Avon, OH;
Dexter, MI;
Muskegon, MI;
Sumter, SC (3 sites);
King’s Lynn, United Kingdom;
Monterrey, Mexico (2 sites)

Velocity Control Products

Other Industrial Products

Farmington Hills, MI;
Langenfeld, Germany;
Aichwald, Germany;
Stoughton, MA;
Dayton, OH
Baltimore, MD;
Crawfordsville, IN;
Danville, IL;
Doraville, GA;
LaGrange, GA;
Sayreville, NJ

We consider our properties to generally be in good condition, well
maintained and suitable and adequate to carry on our business. Except for a
leased facility in Monterrey, Mexico (1 site) substantially all of the
properties are owned by us. None of our

properties are subject to significant encumbrances. Our manufacturing
facilities currently have sufficient capacity to meet customer demand. We
have announced our intention to close one of our three Sumter, South
Carolina facilities in conjunction with our wind restructuring. Our leased
executive offices are located in Ann Arbor, MI.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Various claims, arising in the normal course of business are pending
against us. Our estimated legal costs expected to be incurred in connection
with claims, lawsuits and environmental matters are accrued in the
consolidated financial statements contained in Item 8. Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data.
Information regarding legal proceedings involving us is set forth in the
Legal Costs and Contingencies section of Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
None.

KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K

Source: KAYDON CORP, 10-K, February 21, 2013

7

Powered by Morningstar ® Document Research ℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

Table of Contents

SUPPLEMENTARY ITEM. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
(Pursuant to Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K)
The following are the executive officers of Kaydon Corporation as of December 31, 2012.
Name and Age of
Executive Officer

Data Pertaining to

James O’Leary (50)

Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. O’Leary joined Kaydon in March 2007 as President and Chief Executive Officer. He
was elected Chairman of the Board in May 2007. Prior to joining Kaydon, he was Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Beazer Homes,
USA, Inc. since August 2003, having joined Beazer Homes in June 2002. Mr. O’Leary was previously with U.S. Industries, Inc. from 1995 until 2002.
He has been a Director of Kaydon since March 2005.

Timothy J. Heasley (58)

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Heasley joined Kaydon in March 2012. Prior to joining Kaydon, he was Senior Vice President and
Corporate Controller of Gibraltar Industries, Inc. from 2005 to 2012. Mr. Heasley previously served as Chief Financial Officer for MRC Industrial Group,
Inc. from 2003 to 2005, and in increasingly responsible financial positions at SPS Technologies and Johnson Controls. In the first quarter of 2006,
subsequent to Mr. Heasley’s departure, MRC Industrial Group, Inc. filed for bankruptcy protection.

Debra K. Crane (57)

Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary. Ms. Crane joined Kaydon in January 2008. Prior to joining Kaydon, she was Senior Counsel for ParkerHannifin Corporation from 2006 to 2007. From 2003 to 2006, Ms. Crane was with Novelis Corporation.

Laura M. Kowalchik (43)

Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer. Ms. Kowalchik joined Kaydon in October 2010. Prior to joining Kaydon, she was Vice President
and Corporate Controller of Dura Automotive Systems, LLC from 2008 to 2010. From 2006 to 2008 she held senior financial positions at Microheat,
Inc. Ms. Kowalchik also held various positions with Metaldyne Corporation from 1998 to 2006. In the fourth quarter of 2008, subsequent to Ms.
Kowalchik’s departure, Microheat, Inc. filed for bankruptcy protection.

Peter C. DeChants (60)

Senior Vice President, Corporate Development since March 2012. Chief Financial Officer from January 2009 to March 2012. From May 2007 to January
2009 Mr. DeChants held the position of Senior Vice President – Corporate Development and Strategy, and Treasurer. Mr. DeChants was previously Vice
President – Corporate Development and Treasurer since joining Kaydon in September 2002.

Anthony T. Behrman (49)

Mr. Behrman served as Vice President – Human Resources from December 2007 through his resignation in January 2013. Prior to joining Kaydon, he
held a variety of human resources positions at companies including BorgWarner, which he joined in 2001, Thomson Consumer Electronics, GTE and
General Dynamics.

Executive Officers

Executive officers, who are elected by the Board of Directors, serve for a term of one year.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON
EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information and Dividends
The New York Stock Exchange is the principal market on which our
common stock is traded under the symbol “ KDN”. As of December 31,
2012, there were 527 holders of record of our common stock.

Market Price
High

Fourth
Third
Second
First

$

23.93
23.77
25.57
38.04

We expect that our practice of paying quarterly dividends on our
common stock will continue, although future dividends will continue to
depend upon our earnings, capital requirements, financial condition and
other factors. In the first quarter of 2012, we declared and paid a special
dividend of $10.50 per common share. In 2012, the dividend declared in
the fourth quarter, which is typically paid in January of the following year,
was paid on December 28, 2012.

The Company did not repurchase any shares of its common stock
during the fourth quarter of 2012. In May 2005, the Company’s Board of
Directors authorized management to repurchase up to

The following table sets forth the high and low closing sales prices of
our common stock and the cash dividends declared per share for the fiscal
periods indicated.

2011 by Quarter

2012 by Quarter
Market Price
Low
$

Market Price
High

Dividends
Declared

21.14
20.25
20.07
25.51

$

0.20
0.20
0.20

33.02
38.54

$

10.70

Market Price

Dividends
Declared

Low

39.67

26.91
28.33
33.81

41.08

36.97

$

0.20
0.20
0.19
0.19

$

5,000,000 shares of its common stock in the open market. The maximum
number of shares that may yet be purchased under the repurchase plan
totaled 1,168,596 shares as of December 31, 2012.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table gives information about our common stock that
may be issued upon the exercise of options, warrants and rights under all of
our existing equity compensation plans at December 31, 2012, including the
1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan, the 2003 Non-Employee Directors
Equity Plan and the Director Deferred Compensation Plan.
(C)
(A)

(B)

Number of securities
to be issued upon

Weighted average
exercise price of
outstanding
options,
warrants and
rights

exercise of

outstanding
options, warrants
and rights

Equity compensation plans approved by shareholders
Equity compensation plans not approved by shareholders (2)
Total

694,500
13,531
708,031

(1)

$

28.01
N/A

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance
under equity
compensation plans
(excluding securities
reflected
in column (A))

2,161,352 (3)
N/A

2,161,352

(1)

Includes only options outstanding under Kaydon’s 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan and the 2003 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan, as no warrants or rights were outstanding at December 31, 2012.

(2)

Includes shares of Kaydon common stock pursuant to phantom stock units outstanding under Kaydon’s Director Deferred Compensation Plan adopted by the Board of Directors effective January 1, 2001. This
Plan is the only equity plan that has not been approved by shareholders and provides a vehicle for a Director to defer compensation and acquire Kaydon common stock. The amount shown in column (A) above
assumes these Directors elect to receive their deferred compensation in shares of Kaydon common stock. The number of shares reserved for issuance under this Plan is not limited in amount, other than by the dollar
value of the non-employee Directors’ annual compensation.

KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K
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Includes shares available for issuance under Kaydon’s 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan which allows for the granting of stock options, stock appreciation rights and for awards of restricted stock, restricted
stock units and stock-based performance awards to employees of and consultants to the Company, and shares available for issuance under the 2003 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan which allows for the
granting of stock options and for awards of restricted stock.

Stock Performance Graph
The following graph compares the cumulative, five-year shareholder returns on our common stock to the Standard & Poor’s 500 (“S&P 500”) Stock
Composite Index for the broad equity index and the Value Line Diversified Manufacturing Index as an industry standard for the five-year period commencing
January 1, 2008 and ending December 31, 2012, assuming an investment of $100.00 at the close of trading on December 31, 2007 in our common stock, the
S&P 500 Stock Composite Index and the Value Line Diversified Manufacturing Index (published by Value Line, Inc). The cumulative total return assumes
reinvestment of dividends.

Kaydon Corporation
Standard & Poor’s 500
Diversified Manufacturing Index

$
$
$

2007
100.00
100.00
100.00

2008
$
$
$

63.95
63.00
59.70

68.01
79.67
77.25

2011

2010

2009
$
$
$

$
$
$

79.02
91.67
98.25

$
$
$

60.59
93.60
105.66

2012
$
$
$

69.29
108.58
127.87
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
2011

2012
Income Statement
Net Sales
Gross Profit
Net Income
Balance Sheet
Total Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Short-term Investments
Total Debt
Cash Flow Data
Net Cash From Operating Activities
Capital Expenditures
Depreciation and Amortization of Intangible Assets
Per Share Data
Earnings per Share – Diluted
Dividends Declared per Share

2010
2009
(In thousands, except per share data)

2008

$ 460,120
161,077
$ 49,332 (2)

$ 463,988

$ 441,145

$522,374

158,727
$
550 (1)

164,625
$ 56,045 (3)

143,865
$ 45,956 (4)

$ 65,063

$ 615,162

$ 791,697

$ 801,332

$ 787,944

$789,782

53,556
176,375

225,214
—

286,648
—

262,403
—

232,998
—

$ 86,882
17,414

$ 54,886
14,918

$ 93,864
15,397

$ 66,181

$ 57,900
60,704

22,746

23,295

24,510

$ 475,204

$

0.02 (1)
11.30

$

1.52 (2)

$

0.78

1.67 (3)
0.74

11,986
24,119
$

1.37 (4)

192,180

21,645
$

0.70

2.06
0.64

(1)

2012 results include the after tax effect, $41.9 million or $1.31 per share, of the pre-tax $46.3 million of expenses related to the wind energy restructuring, the after tax effect, $2.6 million or $0.08 per share, of the pretax $4.1 million of expenses related to a customer arbitration, the after tax effect, $2.2 million or $0.07 per share, of the pre-tax $2.9 million expense related to the settlement of certain pension benefits, the after tax
effect, $1.4 million or $0.04 per share, of the pre-tax $2.0 million of expenses for due diligence and purchase accounting costs, and the after tax effect, $1.1 million or $0.03 per share, of the pre-tax $1.6 million of
expenses related to our 2012 recapitalization.

(2)

2011 results include the after tax effect, $4.5 million or $0.14 per share, of the pre-tax $6.2 million of expenses related to a customer arbitration, the after tax effect, $0.2 million or $0.01 per share, of the pre-tax
$0.3 million gains related to the curtailment of certain postretirement benefits, the after tax effect, $1.2 million or $0.04 per share, of the pre-tax $1.8 million of expenses for due diligence and purchase accounting
costs, the after tax effect, $1.6 million or $0.05 per share, of the pre-tax $2.4 million in expenses related to our manufacturing consolidation program.

(3)

2010 results include the after tax effect, $1.6 million or $0.05 per share, of the pre-tax $2.3 million of expenses related to a customer arbitration, the after tax effect, $2.3 million or $0.07 per share, of the pre-tax
$3.5 million gains related to the curtailment of certain postretirement benefits, the after tax effect, $2.7 million or $0.08 per share, of the pre-tax $4.0 million of expenses for unconsummated corporate development
efforts and the after tax effect, $2.5 million or $0.08 per share, of the pre-tax $3.7 million in expenses related to our manufacturing consolidation program.

(4)

2009 results include the after tax effect, $4.9 million or $0.15 per share, of the pre-tax $7.6 million gains related to the curtailment of certain postretirement benefits.

KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview

Our Company, Kaydon Corporation, is a leading designer and
manufacturer of custom engineered, performance-critical products,
supplying a broad and diverse group of industrial, aerospace, defense,
alternative energy, medical and electronic equipment and aftermarket
customers. Demand for our products depends, in part, upon a wide range
of general economic conditions, which affect our markets in varying ways
from year to year.
Fiscal 2012 was an important transition year for Kaydon. After a
period of exceptional growth in our military and wind energy businesses
that spanned much of the decade preceding the global recession and
financial crisis of 2009, recent years saw declines in both of these markets
as the aftershocks of 2009 have created new market realities, notably fiscal
austerity in most developed nations. In September 2012, we initiated a
comprehensive restructuring of our bearings business to align capacity with
current market needs while maintaining our leadership positions and longterm capability to serve these markets. By rightsizing to reflect current
market realities, we have adjusted manufacturing capacity and lowered
fixed operating costs to provide maximum operating leverage and position us
for margin expansion as business conditions eventually return to more
consistently robust levels.
With much of the revenue decline related to wind energy markets
already replaced by acquisitions made over the past two years in our
Velocity Controls business, we look forward to accelerating profitable
growth across our product portfolio. Within our Friction Controls segment,
we remain focused on developing profitable expansion opportunities in
underserved international markets and in our traditional distribution
channels, particularly within our historically critical industrial end
markets. With improved operating leverage, investments already made in
operational initiatives and sales and marketing resources throughout the
Company are expected to make a more pronounced impact as we may also
benefit from the eventual improvement in the global economy.

12

At the end of 2012, economic conditions saw relatively high levels of
uncertainty both in the United States, with election and fiscal cliff concerns
prevalent, and in Europe, where relative economic stability has yet to
translate into meaningfully improved industrial activity. While there
continues to be notable uncertainty in many of our markets, incoming
orders at the end of 2012 were healthy as many of our traditional industries
served, including general industrial, military and medical, experienced
gains relative to the prior year.

While we wait for a more balanced and sustained improvement in
business conditions, a reprioritized focus on our powerful industrial brands
and the critical industries they serve, coupled with the enhanced operating
leverage expected post-restructuring, should serve us well. With
manufacturing capacity and working capital levels better reflective of the
current environment, we are well positioned for the gradual economic
improvements expected as the year progresses.

In 2012, in addition to initiating the necessary restructuring already
discussed and completing one acquisition in Velocity Controls while
integrating another, we provided ample evidence of our ability to generate
strong levels of free cash flow while providing meaningful returns to our
shareholders in a yield starved environment, as demonstrated by our special
dividend in March 2012 and our continued regular quarterly dividend. Our
ability to consistently generate strong levels of free cash flow while
providing meaningful cash returns to our shareholders in a still volatile
investing environment remains a hallmark of Kaydon as we have managed
both cyclical and secular challenges within our businesses since 2009.

During the third quarter of 2012, as noted above, we announced a
comprehensive restructuring of our wind energy bearings business to realign
capacity with expected future market needs. The decision to restructure this
line of business was in response to existing and expected conditions in the
wind and military markets resulting from the effects of the global financial
crisis, worldwide fiscal austerity, the emergence of new shale gas extraction
techniques and continued regulatory uncertainty in the United States
including the uncertainty regarding the
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potential expiration of the federal Production Tax Credit on December 31,
2012. As a result of this decision, in 2012 we recorded $46.3 million of pretax charges which included the impairment of assets, severance and other
charges. In addition, net charges of $4.1 million were incurred related to the
conclusion of a customer arbitration issue. The restructuring includes (i) the
non-cash impairment of wind energy production equipment in Monterrey,
Mexico and Sumter, South Carolina, certain portions of which are held for
sale and certain portions of which are held and used to service select wind
energy customers; (ii) the consolidation of one of our three facilities in
Sumter, South Carolina, previously devoted to the wind energy and
military ground vehicle markets, into our other operations; and
(iii) workforce reductions and realignments in those facilities. In addition,
we have incurred, and expect to incur, costs associated with the shutdown
of the Sumter facility and transition costs related to the relocation of certain
production capacity. We expect that the restructuring will be substantially
complete by the end of 2013, potentially subject to continuing efforts to sell
equipment and the Sumter, South Carolina facility noted above.

In June 2012, we acquired Fabreeka Group Holdings, Inc.
(“Fabreeka”) for approximately $53 million. Fabreeka is a leading provider
of engineered vibration isolation and shock control products serving a
diverse customer base across numerous end markets including test and
measurement, industrial machinery, manufacturing, precision equipment
and aerospace and defense. The acquisition was financed with $50.0
million of borrowings under our 2012 credit agreement (defined below) and
available cash. In April 2011, we completed the purchase of all of the
outstanding shares of HAHN-Gasfedern GmbH and related real estate and
intangible property from Ulrich Hahn e.K. (“Hahn”).
During the first quarter of 2012, we completed the recapitalization of
the Company. On March 26, 2012, the Company entered into a new $400.0
million credit agreement (the “2012 credit agreement”) with a syndicate of
lenders providing for a $150.0 million senior term loan facility which was
used to fund a portion of our $10.50 per common share special dividend to
shareholders paid on March 26, 2012, and a $250.0 million senior
revolving credit facility. The remaining portion of the

dividend was funded from our available cash balances. Costs associated
with the recapitalization totaled $1.6 million, which included non-cash
stock option modification costs, the immediate recognition of certain
unamortized debt issuance costs associated with our prior credit agreement,
and the effect of the special dividend on certain benefit costs.

During 2012, our net sales totaled $475.2 million, which included the
contributions of Fabreeka acquired in June 2012, and Hahn acquired in
April 2011. The sales contributed by these acquired entities more than
offset a decrease in sales of products serving our industrial markets. We
generated net income of $0.6 million and cash flow from operating activities
of $86.9 million during 2012. During 2012 cash and cash equivalents
decreased $171.7 million as we invested a net $51.3 million to acquire
Fabreeka, $15.3 million in net capital expenditures, $1.2 million for stock
repurchases and $367.9 million in common stock dividends, which more
than offset cash generated from operating activities. Additionally, at
December 31, 2012, we had net borrowings of $144.4 million under the
senior term loan facility and $32.0 million under the senior revolving credit
facility. The total order book for 2012 equaled $430.9 million, compared to
$437.0 million in 2011 with the change reflecting a reduction in wind energy
orders which was only partially offset by increased military and industrial
orders including the orders contributed by Fabreeka and Hahn. Our
2012 year-end backlog totaled $143.5 million.

At December 31, 2012, our current ratio was 5.1 to 1 and working
capital totaled $195.8 million. We believe that our cash and cash
equivalents balance of $53.6 million at December 31, 2012 and future cash
flows from operations, along with our borrowing capacity are adequate to
fund our operations and strategies for future growth, including working
capital, expenditures for capital expansion and efficiencies, selected stock
repurchases, market share initiatives and corporate development efforts. In
summary, our future performance will be impacted by general economic
conditions and the strength or weakness of the manufacturing environment,
the success of our efforts to continue to expand operations and improve
operating efficiencies, as well as the use of available cash and borrowing
capacity for future acquisitions.
KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K
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The discussion which follows should be reviewed in conjunction with
the consolidated financial statements and the related Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements contained in

Item 8 of this Annual Report to assist in understanding our results of
operations, financial condition, cash flows, capital structure and other
relevant financial information.

Selected Data For The Years 2012, 2011 and 2010
For the Years Ended December 31,

% of
2012

sales

% of

2011

sales

% of
2010

sales

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)
Results from operations:
Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses

Impairment Charge
Operating income
Interest expense
Interest income
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Earnings per share – diluted

Analysis of 2012 Operations Compared to 2011 Operations

Net Sales
Net sales for 2012 equaled $475.2 million, an increase of
$15.1 million or 3.3 percent, compared to net sales in 2011 of
$460.1 million. The increase in sales compared to 2011 was attributable
primarily to a 4.5 percent increase in volume principally of our military
products and the inclusion of the results of Hahn acquired in April 2011
and Fabreeka acquired in June 2012 as well as the net favorable effect of
increased pricing. The volume increases were only partially offset by a $7.0
million unfavorable effect of changes in foreign exchange rates. The decrease
resulting from foreign exchange rate changes was principally attributable to
a stronger U.S. dollar relative to the British pound and the Euro on a year
over year basis.

Gross Margin
Gross margin in 2012 was 33.4 percent, a decrease of 1.6 points from
the 35.0 percent gross margin in 2011. The combined effect of increased
sales volume and increased pricing resulted in an increase in gross margin
of 2.6 points. Gross margin increased by 0.4 points due to decreased
manufacturing restructuring charges. More than

14

$ 475,204
316,477

158,727
100,662

42,953
15,112
3,135
327
11,754
$
550
$
0.02

33.4%
21.2%

$460,120
299,043
161,077
90,841

3.2%

70,236

$463,988
299,363

35.0%
19.7%

—
388
491
21,007
$ 49,332
$ 1.52

15.3%

164,625
83,006
—
81,619
231
486
25,829
$ 56,045
$
1.67

35.5%
17.9%
17.6%

offsetting these increases were the 1.2 point adverse effect of decreased cost
absorption due to a reduction in inventories, the 0.9 point adverse effect of
changes in product mix, the 0.6 point adverse effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, the 0.4 point adverse effect of wind restructuring charges and
arbitration costs, and the 1.5 point adverse effect of other net cost increases.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses were $100.7 million, or
21.2 percent of sales, in 2012, compared to $90.8 million, or 19.7 percent
of sales, in 2011. The $9.8 million increase was primarily attributable to a
$6.9 million increase due to the inclusion of Hahn and Fabreeka. Selling
expenses increased $3.8 million compared to 2011 of which $3.0 million
was due to the inclusion of Hahn and Fabreeka and $0.8 million was
primarily related to the costs associated with the Company’s focused global
sales and marketing initiatives. General and administrative expenses
increased $6.0 million from the prior year, which was primarily due to the
additions of Hahn and Fabreeka. In addition, other increases included: onetime costs associated with the Company’s 2012 recapitalization of $1.3
million, increased restructuring charges of $1.1 million, and a $2.9 million
pension settlement charge. These
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increases were partially offset by a decrease in arbitration costs of $2.4
million, decreased incentive compensation accruals of $2.4 million and
$0.7 million of income associated with an insurance claim recovery.

Operating Income
Impacted by the matters discussed above, including the restructuring
of our wind energy business, our operating income was $15.1 million, or
3.2 percent of sales, in 2012, compared to $70.2 million, or 15.3 percent of
sales, in 2011.

Interest Income
During 2012, interest income totaled $0.3 million on average
investment balances of $61.8 million. This compares to $0.5 million of
interest income in 2011 on average investment balances of $217.9 million.

Interest Expense
During 2012, interest expense totaled $3.1 million and represented the
interest on borrowings to fund our first quarter 2012 recapitalization, the
Fabreeka acquisition and the amortization of costs associated with our
current and prior credit facilities. During 2011, interest expense totaled $0.4
million and represented amortization of costs associated with our prior
credit facility.

Provision for Income Taxes
The effective tax rate for 2012 was an extraordinarily high 95.5
percent compared to 29.9 percent in 2011, due to the minimal tax benefits
associated with our wind asset impairment and restructuring charges.
Excluding these items, the effective tax rate was approximately 28 percent
which is lower than prior year primarily due to a decrease in taxes on
foreign earnings.

Net Income
Net income for 2012 was $0.6 million or $0.02 per share on a diluted
basis, which included the after tax expenses of $41.9 million, or $1.31 per
share, for wind restructuring and impairment charges, $2.6 million, or
$0.08 per share, for customer arbitration costs, $2.2 million or $0.07 per
share, for lump sum

pension settlement, $1.4 million, or $0.04 per share, for due diligence and
acquisition related purchase accounting costs, and $1.1 million, or $0.03
per share, for costs associated with the Company’s 2012 recapitalization all
based on approximately 31.8 million common shares outstanding. Net
income for 2011 was $49.3 million or $1.52 per share on a diluted basis,
which included the after tax expenses of $4.5 million, or $0.14 per share,
for customer arbitration costs and a related inventory reserve, $1.6 million,
or $0.05 per share, for costs related to our manufacturing consolidation
program (see Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) and $1.2
million or $0.04 per share for due diligence and acquisition related purchase
accounting costs, all based on approximately 32.1 million common shares
outstanding.

Analysis of 2011 Operations Compared to 2010 Operations

Net Sales
Net sales for 2011 equaled $460.1 million, a decrease of $3.9 million
or 0.8 percent, compared to net sales in 2010 of $464.0 million. The
decrease in sales compared to 2010 was attributable primarily to decreased
volume of $7.9 million principally of our wind energy and military
products only partially offset by increases in sales volumes of velocity
control products including Hahn, sealing products, and to customers
across our heavy equipment and machinery end markets. These volume
decreases were only partially offset by the $2.6 million favorable effect of
changes in foreign exchange rates and the net favorable effect of increased
pricing in our metal alloy business, which was principally offset by
unfavorable pricing of our wind energy products. The increase resulting
from foreign exchange rate changes was principally attributable to a weaker
U.S. dollar relative to the Euro and British pound on a year-over-year basis.

Gross Margin
Gross margin in 2011 was 35.0 percent, a decrease of 0.5 points from
the 35.5 percent gross margin in 2010. The combined effect of sales volume
and product mix changes increased gross margin by 2.7 points as we
achieved growth in sales of higher margin products relative to lower margin
products. Gross margin increased by 0.3 points due to
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decreased expenses incurred for our manufacturing consolidation program
(see Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). More than offsetting
these increases were the 1.1 point adverse effect of pricing, the 0.9 point
adverse effect of an inventory reserve recorded related to a customer
arbitration (see Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), a 0.2 point
reduction from the effects of foreign exchange rate changes, and a 1.3 point
reduction from the effect of other net cost increases. The effect on gross
margin of wind energy price reductions was greater than the positive gross
margin effect of the increased pricing in our metal alloy business.

income in 2010 on average investment balances of $260.1 million.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

The effective tax rate for 2011 was 29.9 percent compared to
31.5 percent in 2010 with the reduction largely attributable to an increase in
foreign earnings taxed at a lower rate than the U.S. federal statutory rate, a
reduction in state income taxes, and U.S. tax credits for research and
development.

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $90.8 million, or
19.7 percent of sales, in 2011, compared to $83.0 million, or 17.9 percent
of sales, in 2010. The $7.8 million increase was primarily attributable to
$7.2 million in increased selling expenses compared to the prior period,
largely due to increased investments in personnel, advertising and travel
related to focused global sales and marketing initiatives and the inclusion of
Hahn. General and administrative expenses in 2010 included $3.5 million
of postretirement benefit curtailment gains compared to $0.3 million of such
gains in 2011. The effect of the decreased curtailment gains were partially
offset by a $1.1 million decrease in compensation expense, principally
incentive based, and a $2.2 million decrease in costs associated with due
diligence efforts and acquisition purchase accounting costs. In addition,
general and administrative expenses also increased due to the inclusion of
Hahn.

Operating Income
Our operating income was $70.2 million, or 15.3 percent of sales, in
2011, compared to $81.6 million, or 17.6 percent of sales, in 2010, due to
the decreased gross profit and increased selling, general and administrative
expenses.

Interest Income
During 2011, interest income totaled $0.5 million on average
investment balances of $217.9 million. This compares to $0.5 million of
interest

Interest Expense
During 2011, interest expense totaled $0.4 million and represented the
amortization of costs associated with our then current credit facility. During
2010, interest expense totaled $0.2 million and represented amortization of
costs associated with our then current and prior credit facilities.

Provision for Income Taxes

Net Income
Net income for 2011 was $49.3 million or $1.52 per share on a
diluted basis, which included the after tax expenses of $4.5 million, or
$0.14 per share, for customer arbitration costs and a related inventory
reserve, $1.6 million, or $0.05 per share, for costs related to our
manufacturing consolidation program (see Note 13 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements), and $0.9 million or $0.03 per share for due diligence
costs, all based on approximately 32.1 million common shares outstanding.
Net income for 2010 was $56.0 million or $1.67 per share on a diluted
basis, which included the after tax expenses of $2.7 million, or $0.08 per
share, for unconsummated corporate development efforts and $2.5 million,
or $0.08 per share, for costs related to our manufacturing consolidation
program and the after tax gain of $2.3 million, or $0.07 per share,
associated with the curtailment of certain postretirement benefits, based on
approximately 33.1 million common shares outstanding.

Results by Business Segment
We classify our businesses into two reporting segments: Friction
Control Products and Velocity Control Products. The Company’s remaining
operating segments are combined and disclosed as “Other Industrial
Products.” Sales between reporting segments are not material. Items not
allocated to
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segment operating income include certain amortization, corporate
administrative expenses and other amounts. Items not allocated to segment
operating income in 2012 included $2.9 million of costs associated with the
settlement of certain pension obligations, $1.6 million of due diligence
costs, and $1.3 million of costs associated with our first quarter 2012
recapitalization. Items not allocated to segment operating income in 2011
included costs

associated with due diligence efforts of $1.2 million and postretirement
benefit curtailment gains of $0.3 million. Items not allocated to segment
operating income in 2010 included costs associated with unconsummated
corporate development efforts of $4.0 million and postretirement benefit
curtailment gains of $3.5 million. The segment discussions that follow
describe the significant factors contributing to the changes in results for
each segment.

Friction Control Products
For the Years Ended December 31,
% Change

2012

2011

2010

$258.0
$ (11.5)

$255.0
$ 37.4

$299.0
$ 61.3

2012 to 2011

% Change

2011 to 2010

(Dollars in millions)
Sales
Operating Income
Operating Margin

2012 Compared to 2011
Sales in our Friction Control Products reporting segment were $258.0
million during 2012 compared to $255.0 million during 2011, an increase
of $2.9 million or 1.1 percent. The increase was a result of a 0.4 percent
increase in sales volume and increased pricing of 1.3 percent, partially
offset by a $1.4 million unfavorable effect of changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. The sales increases were primarily in the military market
and in the industrial markets served by our split-roller bearings business,
which more than offset decreases in our semiconductor, machinery and
medical markets.
Operating margin was a negative 4.5 percent, and declined
significantly from 14.7 percent in 2011. This large decrease in margin was
primarily the result of the $46.3 million of wind energy restructuring
charges, as well as unfavorable product mix. These margin decreases were
partially offset by the positive effect of increased pricing, increased volume
and lower arbitration costs.

2011 Compared to 2010

(4.5)%

14.7%

1.1%
nm

(14.7)%
(39.0)%

20.5%

to $299.0 million during 2010, a decrease of $44.0 million or 14.7 percent.
The sales decrease was attributable to a $41.6 million decline in sales of
wind energy products and a $14.2 million decrease in sales to the military
market principally associated with the wind down of military vehicle
programs. The decline in wind energy was due to decreased volume of
$35.9 million and decreased pricing of $5.7 million. Sales increased to the
heavy equipment and machinery markets and to the industrial markets
served by our split-roller bearings and specialty ball businesses.
Operating income from the Friction Control Products reporting segment
during 2011 totaled $37.4 million compared to $61.3 million in 2010. The
$23.9 million decrease in operating income was due principally to $15.4
million from decreased sales volume, $5.4 million in decreased pricing,
$3.9 million in higher costs associated with a customer arbitration matter,
$0.9 million from the unfavorable effects of changes in foreign exchange
rates and other net cost increases of $3.9 million. These decreases were only
partially offset by improved product mix of $5.6 million as sales of
relatively higher margin products grew faster than those of lower margin
products.

Sales in our Friction Control Products reporting segment were $255.0
million during 2011 compared
KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K
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Velocity Control Products
For the Years Ended December 31,
% Change

2012

2011

2010

$106.5
$ 22.7

$89.8
$21.2

$60.2
$ 14.3

2012 to 2011

% Change

2011 to 2010

(Dollars in millions)
Sales
Operating Income
Operating Margin

21.3%

23.6%

18.6%
7.0%

49.1%
48.6%

23.7%

2012 Compared to 2011

2011 Compared to 2010

During 2012, sales in our Velocity Control Products reporting segment
were $106.5 million compared to $89.8 million in 2011. The increase in
sales was the result of a 23.5 percent increase in volume and increased
pricing of 1.3 percent which was partially offset by the negative effect of
changes in foreign exchange rates of $5.6 million. The volume increase was
primarily due to the results of acquired businesses which more than offset
decreased volume in our other international markets.

During 2011, sales in our Velocity Control Products reporting segment
were $89.8 million compared to $60.2 million in 2010. The increase of
$29.6 million or 49.1 percent was due to $27.4 million in increased
volumes to North American and European markets including $15.6
million of sales from Hahn which was acquired in April 2011, and the
positive effect of changes in foreign exchange rates of $2.2 million.

During 2012, the operating margin of 21.3 percent declined 2.3
percentage points from 23.6 percent in 2011. The lower margin was
primarily a result of unfavorable product mix, the effect of changes in
foreign currency exchange rates, and increased selling costs related to the
Company’s focused global sales and marketing initiatives.

The Velocity Control Products reporting segment contributed $21.2
million to our operating income during 2011 compared to $14.3 million
during 2010. The increase was attributable to a $13.8 million impact of
increased sales, $0.4 million due to improved product mix, and the positive
effect of changes in foreign exchange rates of $0.3 million, which was
partially offset by all other net cost increases of $7.5 million which
includes selling, general and administrative expenses of Hahn and other cost
increases principally related to sales growth initiatives.

Other Industrial Products
For the Years Ended December 31,
% Change

2012

2011

2012 to 2011

2010

% Change

2011 to 2010

(Dollars in millions)
Sales
Operating Income
Operating Margin

2012 Compared to 2011

Sales for our remaining businesses, which are combined and shown
above as Other Industrial Products, totaled $110.7 million during 2012
compared to $115.3 million in 2011. The reduction in sales was a result of
a 2.6 percent reduction in pricing primarily due to our metal alloy business
and a 1.4 percent decrease in volume primarily driven by our liquid
filtration, metal forming and machine tool
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$110.7
$ 11.7
10.6%

$115.3
$ 13.7
11.9%

$104.8
$ 9.0

(4.0)%
(14.6)%

10.1%
51.8%

8.6%

businesses, which more than offset increases in volume from our sealing
and air filtration product businesses.

The operating margin of 10.6 percent declined 1.3 points from 11.9
percent in 2011. The decrease was primarily due to decreased pricing,
decreased volume, and unfavorable mix, which was only partially offset by
net cost reductions.

KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K

Source: KAYDON CORP, 10-K, February 21, 2013

Powered by Morningstar ® Document Research ℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

Table of Contents

2011 Compared to 2010

Sales of our other industrial products were $115.3 million during
2011 compared to $104.8 million in 2010. The $10.6 million sales increase
was principally due to increased sales of our sealing, metal alloy, air
filtration, metal-forming and machine tool products businesses, which more
than offset the decreased sales of our liquid filtration business. Our metal
alloy business sales increase was due to the effect of higher raw material
pricing on certain metals that was passed on to our customers.
Our other industrial products contributed $13.7 million to our
operating income during 2011 compared to $9.0 million during 2010. This
increase in operating income was attributable to $3.4 million from increased
sales volumes, the $1.9 million positive effect of changes in product mix
and $1.0 million from increased pricing, partially offset by $1.6 million of
other net cost increases.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
At December 31, 2012, our current ratio was 5.1 to 1 and working
capital totaled $195.8 million, including cash and cash equivalents of
$53.6 million. At December 31, 2011, our current ratio was 8.7 to 1 and
working capital totaled $381.1 million, including cash and cash
equivalents of $225.2 million.
We have historically generated significant cash flows from operating
activities to fund capital expenditures, dividends and other operating
requirements. Cash flow generation has been enhanced by our continuing
efforts to improve operating efficiencies, implement cost reductions and
manage working capital requirements. Net cash from operating activities
equaled $86.9 million in 2012, $54.9 million in 2011 and $93.9 million
in 2010. Net cash from operating activities in 2012 increased compared to
2011 primarily due to decreased inventories and accounts receivable in
2012 compared to increases in 2011. Net cash from operating activities in
2011 decreased compared to 2010 primarily due to decreased net income,
increased inventories, and a decrease in accrued liabilities in 2011
compared to 2010.

environment. Inventories at December 31, 2011 were $110.2 million, an
increase of $22.0 million in 2011 associated with both anticipated future
sales and certain product deliveries expected to be completed in 2011, but
which had been rescheduled by the customer to meet their revised
requirements. The 2011 inventory increase was net of a $4.1 million
inventory reserve recorded at December 31, 2011 associated with a customer
arbitration as more fully described below.
We closely monitor our accounts receivable and are reasonably assured
that the net amount is fully collectible. Additionally, we believe that our
inventory at December 31, 2012 is fully realizable.

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, we had approximately $8.3 million
of working capital, or $3.8 million after reserves at December 31, 2011,
invested on behalf of an international wind energy customer. This included
past due accounts receivable and inventory manufactured on the customer’s
behalf and designed to its agreed upon specifications. The customer had not
paid us and had made a claim for material damages alleging that certain
field performance issues of its product were attributable to the quality of the
supplied bearings. After unsuccessful mediation, the parties proceeded to
binding arbitration, an arbitration tribunal was selected in the third quarter
of 2010 and the hearing phase of the arbitration process was conducted in
November 2011. With the completion of the arbitration hearings and the
absence of a settlement, the sale of the inventory was not expected in the
ordinary course of business. Accordingly, in the fourth quarter of 2011, we
reserved $4.1 million for the write down of the value of the inventory to
scrap value. With regard to the customer’s claim for material damages,
given the inherent uncertainty of the arbitration process, the substantial
volume of evidence and testimony provided since commencement of the
arbitration, and the complexity of the legal analysis involved, we believed
that it was reasonably possible, but not probable, that the arbitrators would
give credence to a portion of the customer’s claims and that a loss had been
incurred. However, due to these uncertainties and complexities, we were
unable to make an estimate of a reasonably possible loss or range of loss
prior to the final decision of the arbitration tribunal.

Net inventories at December 31, 2012 were $97.9 million, a decrease
of $12.3 million in 2012 to align our inventory level to reflect the current
market
KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K
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On September 14, 2012, the arbitration tribunal issued its binding
executed final award. While the tribunal noted that, for the most part, we
successfully defended the substantial damages claim brought against it, the
tribunal awarded the customer $4.4 million for recovery of replacement
costs of a portion of the bearings we had supplied. The tribunal rejected our
claim for the recovery of inventory costs and lost profits. As noted above,
the related inventory had been written down to scrap value at December 31,
2011. The tribunal also awarded us $3.9 million related to the accounts
receivable owed by the customer. As a result of the arbitration award, in the
third quarter of 2012 we recorded a total net charge of $4.0 million related to
the ruling which consisted of a $4.4 million charge to cost of sales for the
replacement costs, and a reversal of $0.4 million of the previously recorded
accounts receivable reserve which was recorded as a reduction in selling,
general and administration expense. We paid $0.5 million to the customer in
the fourth quarter of 2012 in accordance with the terms of the executed final
award. This matter was within the Friction Control Products segment.
Capital expenditures equaled $17.4 million in 2012, $14.9 million in
2011, and $15.4 million in 2010 to expand productive capacity, improve
quality and reduce costs. The decrease in capital expenditures in 2011
compared to 2010 reflected the completion of our manufacturing
consolidation program. During 2013, we expect to invest approximately $15
million to $20 million in aggregate capital expenditures for all segments.

The Company paid regular cash dividends totaling $31.8 million,
$25.1 million and $24.5 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
The dividends paid through the third quarter of 2010 were at a quarterly
rate of $0.18 per share. The dividends paid in the fourth quarter of 2010
and the first three quarters of 2011 were at a quarterly rate of $0.19 per
share. In 2012, the dividend declared in the fourth quarter, which is
typically paid in January of the following year, was paid on December 28,
2012. The dividends paid in the fourth quarter of 2011 and in all four
quarters of 2012 were at a quarterly rate of $0.20 per share. In addition, a
special dividend was paid in the first quarter of 2012 at a rate of $10.50 per
share which totaled $336.1 million.
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We repurchased 36,742 shares of our common stock in 2012 for $1.2
million, 1,082,091 shares of our common stock in 2011 for $38.7 million,
and 741,754 shares of our common stock in 2010 for $27.0 million. In
2005, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase
program of up to 5,000,000 shares. Of the 5,000,000 shares currently
authorized by the Board of Directors for repurchase, 3,831,404 shares have
been repurchased as of December 31, 2012. We may make opportunistic
stock repurchases over time, the amount of which will depend on the
market for our common stock and our financial condition and liquidity.
Our payments to various taxing authorities were $18.3 million,
$15.6 million and $19.2 million during 2012, 2011 and 2010. Tax
payments are expected to be approximately $15 million during 2013. We
intend to permanently reinvest the earnings of certain international
operations which can restrict our ability to use cash from our international
operations for domestic needs. We believe that we have sufficient sources of
domestic liquidity in both our existing domestic cash balances and
borrowing capacity to meet our needs.

In March 2012, we terminated our former 2010 credit agreement and
entered into a new $400 million credit agreement (the “2012 credit
agreement”) with a syndicate of lenders providing for a $150.0 million
senior term loan facility, which the Company borrowed to fund a portion of
its $10.50 per common share special dividend paid to shareholders on
March 26, 2012, and a $250.0 million senior revolving credit facility.
Under the provisions of the 2012 credit agreement, the Company is required
to repay the term loan in quarterly installments of $1,875,000 each quarter
from June 2012 to March 2013, of $2,812,500 per quarter from June 2013
to March 2014, and $3,750,000 each quarter from June 2014 to March
2016, with the balance due on March 27, 2017. The Company expects to
service this obligation through cash generated from operations over the term
of the 2012 credit agreement. The revolving credit facility provides for
borrowings by the Company and our subsidiaries for working capital and
other general corporate purposes, including acquisitions. The 2012 credit
agreement requires us to comply with maximum leverage and
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minimum interest coverage ratios. We were in compliance with all restrictive
covenants contained in the 2012 credit agreement at December 31, 2012. On
June 5, 2012, we borrowed $50.0 million under the senior revolving credit
agreement to fund our acquisition of Fabreeka. Taking into account the
borrowings under the senior revolving credit agreement and $3.3 million of
letters of credit issued under the 2012 credit agreement, we had unused
credit under the 2012 credit agreement of $214.7 million at December 31,
2012.

The then remaining unamortized portion of the 2010 debt issuance
costs of $1.1 million and the $1.4 million of debt issuance costs related to
the 2012

credit agreement are being amortized over the life of the 2012 credit
agreement. Credit agreement fees included in other assets in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012, equaled $2.1 million.

We expect that our planned capital requirements, which consist of
capital expenditures, dividend payments and our stock repurchase
program, will be financed by operations and existing cash balances. In
addition, the ability to borrow under our credit agreement provides
additional financial strength to support our objectives, including future
acquisitions.

Our significant contractual obligations at December 31, 2012 are set forth below:
Payments due by period

Total

2013

$176,375
9,386
2,086
$ 187,847

$ 10,313
2,593
2,086
$14,992

Contractual Obligations

Long-term debt
Operating leases
Purchase obligations for property, plant and equipment
Total

We expect to make cash contributions of approximately $2.4 million to
our pension plans in 2013. We regularly review our funding strategy for our
pension plans. We expect to contribute approximately $0.4 million to our
postretirement benefit plans in 2013. We have $1.3 million of liabilities for
unrecognized tax benefits which are excluded from the above table because
the timing of settlement of these liabilities cannot be reasonably estimated.

Corporate Development
Our corporate development efforts are intended to complement internal
growth through the acquisition of additional companies consistent with our
well-disciplined criteria. We maintain a disciplined acquisition program,
which has made important contributions to our growth.

In April 2011, we purchased all of the outstanding shares of HAHNGasfedern GmbH and related real estate and intangible property (“Hahn”)

20142015
(In thousands)

$29,062
3,627
—
$32,689

20162017

$ 137,000
2,243
—
$ 139,243

More than
5 years

$
$

—
923
—
923

from Ulrich Hahn e.K. Hahn manufactures and sells high quality gas
springs, tension springs and dampers for diverse industrial
markets. Hahn’s results are included in our Velocity Control Products
segment.

In June 2012, we completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding
shares of Fabreeka Group Holdings, Inc. (“Fabreeka”). Fabreeka is a
leading provider of engineered vibration-isolation and shock-control
products, including isolation pads, isolation mounts and highly engineered
vibration solutions for diverse industrial markets. Fabreeka’s results are
included in the Velocity Control Products segment.

Litigation
We are a party to various pending lawsuits and other matters arising in
the normal course of business. Our estimated legal costs expected to be
incurred in connection with claims, lawsuits and environmental matters are
accrued in the consolidated financial statements. The costs accrued at
December 31, 2012 and 2011 were not material.
KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these
financial statements requires the use of estimates, judgments and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
periods presented.

We continually evaluate the estimates, judgments and assumptions
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. In general, our
estimates are based on: historical experience, information from third party
professionals and various other judgments and assumptions that are
believed to be reasonable under the current facts and circumstances. Actual
results could differ from our current estimates. We have identified certain
accounting policies and estimates, described below, that are the most critical
to the portrayal of our current financial condition and results of operations.
Inventories – Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market,
with cost determined on a first-in, first-out basis. The carrying value of
inventory is reduced for estimated obsolescence by the difference between its
cost and the estimated market value based upon assumptions regarding
future demand. We evaluate the inventory carrying value for potential excess
and obsolete inventory exposures by analyzing historical and anticipated
demand. In addition, inventories are evaluated for potential obsolescence due
to the effect of known or anticipated engineering change orders, new
products and other factors.
We believe the accounting estimates related to inventories to be critical
accounting estimates because the assumptions used to determine the
valuation of inventories, while based on reasonable and supportable
information, may change and cause projected outcomes to vary.

Valuation of Assets Acquired in Business Combinations – We
value assets acquired in business combinations including property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets. The fair value estimates are developed
using the best information available to us and we typically engage thirdparty
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valuation specialists to assist us. The fair value estimates require us to use
various factors and information including market information, projected
economic and market conditions, projected future growth rates, projected
future cash flows, and other information typically used to value the
acquired assets in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
If the actual performance of the acquired companies and of the related
acquired assets are not consistent with the projections used to value the
assets, we may be required to incur asset impairment charges in future
periods. We believe the accounting estimates related to the valuation of assets
acquired in business combinations to be critical accounting estimates
because the estimates, while based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections, requires our subjective judgments and the
time periods for estimating future cash flows is often lengthy, increasing the
sensitivity of assumptions made, thus projected outcomes may vary.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets – We continually evaluate
whether events and circumstances have occurred that indicate the remaining
estimated useful lives of long-lived assets including fixed assets and
amortizable intangible assets may warrant revision or that remaining
balances may not be recoverable. When factors indicate that such costs
should be evaluated for possible impairment, we use an estimate of
undiscounted future cash flows over the remaining lives of the long-lived
assets that is compared to the carrying value of the asset to evaluate whether
the asset costs are recoverable.
We believe the accounting estimates related to long-lived asset
impairment to be critical accounting estimates because the estimate of
undiscounted future cash flows, while based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections, requires our subjective judgments and the
time periods for estimating future cash flows is often lengthy, increasing the
sensitivity of assumptions made, thus projected outcomes may vary.

To better understand this accounting policy and its impact on us,
readers should refer to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Note 1 and Note 10) in this Annual Report for additional information
regarding long-lived assets.
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Impairment of Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets –
We test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level, which represents
an operating segment or a component of an operating segment for which
discrete financial information is available and segment management
regularly reviews the operating results.

determined based on that reporting unit’s specific operating cash flow at the
end of the planning period and the reporting unit’s assumed growth rate in
perpetuity. In 2012, as of our annual assessment date, we used a growth
rate in perpetuity of 1.0 to 2.0 percent depending on the assessed long-term
growth of the reporting unit.

We test for impairment of goodwill on an annual basis by comparing
the fair value of each reporting unit with the reporting unit’s carrying value.
In accordance with current accounting guidance, we have included deferred
income taxes in determining the carrying value of each reporting unit. The
fair value of the reporting unit is derived from an estimate of discounted
future cash flows. The discounted cash flow model for each reporting unit
requires judgmental assumptions regarding each reporting unit’s specific
projected revenue growth, future operating margins and working capital and
capital expenditure requirements, in addition to assumptions of appropriate
discount rates and terminal values based on growth rates in perpetuity.
There are inherent uncertainties related to these assumptions and
management’s judgment in applying them to the analysis of goodwill
impairment. While we believe we have made reasonable estimates and
assumptions to calculate the fair value of our reporting units, it is possible a
material change could occur. Goodwill of a reporting unit is tested for
impairment between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change
that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit
below its carrying value.

Potential goodwill impairment is identified if a reporting unit’s
carrying value is more than a reporting unit’s fair value. If this occurs,
normally a third-party valuation specialist is utilized to assist us in
determining the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill. The
amount of any actual impairment loss is calculated by comparing the
implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying value of
the reporting unit’s goodwill.

In 2012, as of our annual assessment date, a discount rate was
developed which is the value-weighted average of our estimated cost of
equity and estimated cost of debt (“cost of capital”) derived using both
known and estimated, customary, marketplace metrics, including a size
risk premium. In 2012, depending on the assessed risk of the reporting
unit, we used discount rates of 11.5 to 12.5 percent to calculate the fair
value of each reporting unit.
In arriving at future discounted cash flows for each reporting unit, we
evaluate the appropriate growth rate in perpetuity for each of our reporting
units to calculate a terminal value of cash flows following each reporting
unit’s five-year planning period. The terminal value for each reporting unit

Our goodwill impairment testing in 2012 revealed that the excess of the
estimated fair value of each of the reporting units tested over their carrying
value (expressed as a percentage of the carrying value) as of the July 31
annual testing date ranged from approximately 18 percent to approximately
275 percent. Assumptions regarding discount rate, revenue growth rates,
operating profit margins and perpetuity growth rate may have a significant
effect on the estimated fair value of our reporting units. In order to evaluate
the sensitivity of the fair value calculations on the goodwill impairment test,
we applied a hypothetical ten percent decrease to the fair values of each
reporting unit. The results of this ten percent hypothetical change in fair
values would not have changed our conclusion that fair values exceeded
carrying values in each case by a material amount.

Certain trademarks are our only indefinite-lived intangible assets. We
identify impairment of these trademarks by comparing their fair value to
their carrying values. The fair values of the trademarks are calculated based
on estimates of discounted future cash flows related to the net amount of
royalty expenses avoided due to the existence of the trademarks.
We believe the accounting estimates related to impairment of goodwill
and indefinite-lived intangible assets to be critical accounting estimates
because the estimate of discounted future cash flows and terminal values,
while based on reasonable and
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supportable assumptions and projections, require our subjective judgments,
the time periods for estimating future cash flows is often lengthy, which
increases the sensitivity to assumptions made, projected outcomes based on
the assumptions made can vary, and the calculation of implied fair value is
inherently subject to estimates.

To better understand this accounting policy and its impact on us,
readers should refer to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Note 10) in this Annual Report for additional information regarding
goodwill and intangible assets.
Retirement Benefits – Our employee pension and postretirement
benefit costs and obligations recorded in the financial statements are
dependent on our estimates provided to and used by our actuaries in
calculating such amounts.
We believe the accounting estimates related to retirement benefits to be
critical accounting estimates because of the wide range of assumptions used
in deriving yearly contribution and expense amounts as well as the amounts
recorded for retirement benefits in our financial statements. Significant
assumptions include judgments regarding discount rates, health care cost
trend rates, salary growth rates and long-term returns on plan assets.

We have developed estimates based on historical experience,
information from third party professionals and various other judgments
and assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the current facts
and circumstances. In developing the

discount rate assumption used to determine the pension and postretirement
benefit obligations, we use the weighted average of market-observed yields
for high quality fixed income securities with maturities that correspond to
the payment of benefits. The equivalent weighted average discount rate is
calculated by imputing the interest rate that equates the total present value
with the stream of future cash flows. Health care cost trend assumptions are
developed based on historical data, the near-term outlook and on an
assessment of likely long-term trends. Salary growth assumptions reflect
our long-term experience, the near-term outlook and assumed inflation.
Long-term return on plan assets is based on an evaluation of historical and
expected returns of the individual asset classes comprising the total plan
assets. For individual categories of equity securities, historical total and real
rates of return are considered, together with inflation and overall market
factors including dividend yield, earnings growth, changes in price to
earnings ratios and volatility of returns. For various fixed income asset
categories, expected long-term returns are determined after consideration of
current yields on fixed income securities, inflation, historical yields relative
to benchmarks and long-term default rates.

Assumed discount rates, expected rate of return on plan assets and rate
of compensation increases have a significant effect on the amounts reported
for the pension plans. The effect of a one percentage point increase or
decrease in each factor on the projected benefit obligation and net periodic
pension cost would have been:

1-Percentage-Point

1-Percentage-Point
Decrease

Increase

(in thousands)
Discount rate effect on December 31, 2012 projected benefit obligation
Discount rate effect on the 2012 net periodic pension cost
Salary scale effect on December 31, 2012 projected benefit obligation
Salary scale effect on the 2012 net periodic pension cost
Expected return on plan assets effect on the 2012 net periodic pension cost
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$
$
$
$
$

(20,233)
(1,925)
3,924
706
(1,163)

$
$
$
$
$

24,963

2,289
(3,357)
(607)
1,163
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The following table summarizes certain of the Company’s assumptions:
Postretirement
Pension Benefits

2012
Weighted average assumptions used to determine obligations:
Discount rate – qualified pension plans and postretirement benefit plans
Discount rate – non-qualified pension plan
Rate of compensation increase – age-graded
Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost:
Discount rate – qualified pension plans and postretirement benefit plans
Discount rate – non-qualified pension plan
Expected long-term return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase – age-graded

2011

Benefits

2012

2011

4.17%
4.36%
3.70%

5.01%
5.05%
4.00%

2.89%
N/A

N/A

3.70%

4.00%

5.01%
5.05%
7.70%
4.00%

5.46%
5.50%
7.70%
4.50%

4.16%

4.50%

N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

4.00%

4.50%

4.16%

Actual results that differ from our assumptions are accumulated and
amortized over future periods and, therefore, generally affect our recognized
expense and recorded obligation in such future periods. While we believe
that the assumptions used are appropriate, significant differences in actual
experience or significant changes in assumptions would affect our pension
and postretirement benefits costs and obligations.

Our cash contributions required to fund our pension plans in 2012 were
$8.8 million and are expected to be $2.4 million in 2013. The 2013 cash
contributions and future expected contributions are expected to have only a
minor impact on our current and future liquidity as we expect to meet
funding requirements from cash generated in our operations or our available
cash resources.

The current market conditions for highly rated corporate bonds has a
significant effect on our assumption for the discount rate used to determine
projected benefit obligations and net periodic benefit cost, where an increase
(decrease) in interest rates will result in a decrease (increase) in the projected
benefit obligation and decrease (increase) in net periodic benefit cost. At
December 31, 2012, the discount rates assumed were lower than those at
December 31, 2011, affecting plan benefit obligations at December 31, 2012
and the net periodic pension cost for 2013 accordingly.

The expected age-graded rate of compensation increase was adjusted
downward to reflect our long-term experience, the near-term outlook and
assumed inflation.

Changes in current conditions in financial markets do not
significantly alter the underlying long-term expected return on plan assets
each year. However, actual returns compared to the expected return on plan
assets have a significant effect on the funded status of the plans and
consequently the net periodic pension cost and plan contributions in future
periods. The actual rate of return on plan assets in 2012 was higher than the
expected long-term rate of return on plan assets increasing the funded status
at December 31, 2012 and reducing the net periodic pension cost in 2013.
The actual rate of return on plan assets in 2011 was lower than the expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets. The actual rate of return on plan
assets in 2010 significantly exceeded the expected long-term rate of return on
plan assets.

To better understand this accounting policy and its impact on us,
readers should refer to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Note 7) in this Annual Report for additional information regarding costs,
obligations and assumptions for employee pension and postretirement
benefits.
Income Taxes – We record deferred tax assets and liabilities using
enacted tax rates for the effect of differences between the book and tax basis
of recorded assets and liabilities. These deferred tax assets and liabilities are
reviewed for recoverability by using estimates of future taxable income
streams and the impact of tax planning strategies. Deferred tax assets are
reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that a portion
of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Reserves are also estimated for
ongoing audits regarding federal, state and international issues that are
currently unresolved. Income tax is provided based upon an effective tax
rate that is dependent upon tax regulations governing the regions in which
we conduct business, geographic composition of worldwide earnings, the
availability of tax credits and other factors.
KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K
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We have liabilities recorded for unrecognized tax benefits totaling
$1.3 million as of December 31, 2012, all of which would affect the
effective tax rate. It is our policy to include interest and penalties incurred
due to underpayment or late payment of income taxes due to a taxing
authority on a net-of-tax basis as a component of income tax expense. We
have recorded $0.6 million in liabilities for tax-related interest and penalties
on our consolidated balance sheet, as of December 31, 2012. The Company
does not expect that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will
significantly change within the next twelve months.

The Company, or one or more of its subsidiaries, operates and files
income tax returns in the United States, various states and foreign
jurisdictions. Foreign jurisdictions significant to the Company include
Germany and the United Kingdom. With limited exceptions, we are no
longer subject to U.S. federal tax examinations for years before 2009, state
examinations for years before 2007, German tax examinations for years
before 2010, or United Kingdom tax examinations for years before 2011.
We believe the accounting estimates related to income taxes to be critical
accounting estimates because the range of assumptions used to determine
deferred tax assets and liabilities and to record current tax benefits and
liabilities, while based on reasonable and supportable information, may
change from year to year causing projected outcomes to vary.
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To better understand this accounting policy and its impact on us,
readers should refer to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Note 9) in this Annual Report for additional information regarding income
taxes.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK
We are exposed to certain market risks, which exist as part of our
ongoing business operations including changes in interest rates and foreign
currency exchange rates. The exposure to market risk for changes in interest
rates relates primarily to our 2012 borrowings under our new 2012 credit
facility which is at a floating interest rate, currently LIBOR plus an
applicable margin. A 10 percent increase in the weighted average interest
rates paid by the Company would not have a material impact on the
Company’s pre-tax earnings. We conduct business in various foreign
currencies, primarily in Europe, Mexico and Asia. Therefore, changes in
the value of currencies in these regions affect our financial condition and
cash flows when translated into U.S. dollars. We have mitigated and will
continue to mitigate a portion of our currency exposure through operation of
decentralized foreign operating companies in which certain costs are local
currency based. In addition, periodically, we enter into derivative financial
instruments in the form of forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce the
effect of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. A 10 percent change in the
value of all foreign currencies would not have a material effect on our
financial condition and cash flows.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Kaydon’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial
reporting is defined under applicable Securities and Exchange Commission rules as a process designed under the supervision of the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and effected by the Company’s Board of Directors, management and other personnel to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

• Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
Company;
• Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and the Directors of the Company; and
• Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control – Integrated
Framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2012.

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the consolidated financial statements of the Company included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has issued their report on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2012. Their report is included herein.
KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Kaydon Corporation
We have audited Kaydon Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Kaydon
Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Kaydon Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance
sheets as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2012 of Kaydon Corporation and our report dated February 21, 2013 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Detroit, Michigan
February 21, 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Kaydon Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kaydon Corporation as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated
statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2012. Our
audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Kaydon
Corporation at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2012, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule,
when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Kaydon Corporation’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 21, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Detroit, Michigan
February 21, 2013
KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K
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KAYDON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in thousands)
2012

2011

$ 53,556
71,410
97,933

$225,214
78,441

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, less allowance of $2,274 in 2012 and $1,417 in 2011
Inventories, net
Other current assets

Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, at cost:

Land and improvements
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment

110,206
16,701
430,562

20,354
243,253
7,487

7,051
67,155
296,518
370,724
(201,778)
168,946
—
157,087

60,194
234,060
301,741

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Assets held for sale
Goodwill, net
Other intangible assets, net
Other assets

(180,508)
121,233
6,530
190,323
49,177
4,646

31,140

$ 615,162

$ 791,697

$ 15,555

$

3,962

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses:
Salaries and wages
Employee benefits
Dividends payable
Other accrued expenses
Taxes payable
Current portion long-term debt
Total current liabilities

Long-term debt
Long-term postretirement and postemployment benefit obligations
Deferred taxes
Other long-term liabilities
Total long-term liabilities
Shareholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock – ($.10 par value, 2,000,000 shares authorized; none issued)

Common stock – ($.10 par value, 98,000,000 shares authorized; 36,925,729 shares issued)
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings

Less: Treasury stock, at cost (5,169,117 and 5,254,024 shares in 2012 and 2011)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

6,443

3,402
14

8,239
3,441
10,313
47,407

166,062
48,039
21,697
1,181
236,979

—
3,693
109,574
372,072
(114,461)
(40,102)
330,776
$ 615,162

19,699

7,833
3,681
6,405

7,252
4,595
—
49,465

—
40,442
14,337

2,815
57,594
—
3,693
107,713

732,924
(116,918)
(42,774)

684,638
$ 791,697

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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KAYDON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
(in thousands, except per share data)

Net Sales
Cost of sales

2012

2011

2010

$ 475,204
316,477

$460,120
299,043

$463,988
299,363

158,727
100,662

161,077
90,841

42,953
15,112
(3,135)
327
12,304
11,754
$
550

70,236
(388)
491
70,339
21,007
$ 49,332

164,625
83,006
—
81,619

Gross Profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses

Impairment charge
Operating Income
Interest expense
Interest income

Income Before Income Taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net Income
Earnings Per Share
Basic

Diluted
Dividends Declared Per Share

$
$
$

0.02
0.02
11.30

—

$
$
$

1.52
1.52
0.78

(231)

486
81,874
25,829
$ 56,045
$
$
$

1.67
1.67
0.74

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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KAYDON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
(in thousands)

Net Income
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), net of tax:

Cumulative currency translation adjustment change in period
Pension and other postretirement benefit plans
Actuarial gain (loss)
Actuarial gain (loss) arising during the period
Amortization to net income of net actuarial gain (loss)
Prior service cost
Prior service gain (cost) arising during the period
Amortization to net income of prior service gain (cost)
Income taxes on pension and other postretirement benefit plans

Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Total Comprehensive Income

2012

2011

2010

$ 550

$ 49,332

$ 56,045

4,114

(9,142)
7,692

—
(696)
704

2,672
$3,222

(5,468)

(18,252)
2,800
(194)

(1,195)
6,333
(15,976)
$ 33,356

(2,712)

1,528
2,759
(678)
(1,257)
(583)
(943)
$55,102

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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KAYDON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
(in thousands)

Common
Balance, December 31, 2009
Net income, 2010
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Cash dividends declared
Board of Directors deferred compensation
Issuance of common stock under stock option plans
Stock option compensation
Tax benefit related to stock-based compensation
Purchase of treasury stock
Restricted stock award cancellations
Compensation cost related to restricted stock awards
Vesting of post-2005 stock awards
Balance, December 31, 2010
Net income, 2011
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Cash dividends declared
Board of Directors deferred compensation
Issuance of common stock under the Board of Directors deferred compensation plan
Issuance of common stock under stock option plans
Stock option compensation
Tax benefit related to stock-based compensation
Purchase of treasury stock
Restricted stock award cancellations
Compensation cost related to restricted stock awards
Vesting of post-2005 stock awards
Balance, December 31, 2011
Net income, 2012
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Cash dividends declared
Board of Directors deferred compensation
Performance stock dividends
Issuance of common stock under stock option plans
Stock option compensation
Tax benefit related to stock-based compensation
Purchase of treasury stock
Compensation cost related to restricted stock awards
Vesting of post-2005 stock awards
Balance, December 31, 2012

*

33,226
—
—
—
—

$

6

—
—
(742)

—
—
132
32,622
—
—
—
—

$

17
1

—
—
(1,082)

—
—
114
31,672

$

—
—
—
—
—

Retained
Earnings

Treasury

3,693

$ 103,892

$ 677,480

$ (59,245)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
126

9

(37)

—
$

(66)

1,314

186
—
7
4,035
(2,676)

3,693

$ 106,818

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
65

3,693

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
113
31,757

Paid-in
Capital

Stock

Shares

3,693

(671)
(16)

1,312
420

—
4

4,204
(4,423)
$ 107,713

—
—
—
107

—
(163)
1,670
436

—
3,146
(3,335)
$ 109,574

56,045
—
(24,702)
(16)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
$ 708,807
49,332

—
(25,209)
(6)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
$ 732,924
550
—
(361,281)
(107)
(14)
—
—
—
—
—
—
$ 372,072

Stock

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

$

—
—
—
—
237
—
—
(27,043)
(7)

—
2,676
$ (83,382)

$

—
—
—
—
671

58
—
—
(38,684)
(4)

—
4,423
$ (116,918)

$

—
—
—
—
—
321
—
—
(1,199)

—
3,335
$ (114,461)

$

(25,855)
—
(943)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(26,798)*
—
(15,976)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(42,774)*
—
2,672
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(40,102)*

Total
$ 699,965

56,045
(943)
(24,702)
110
171
1,314

186
(27,043)

—
4,035

—
$ 709,138
49,332
(15,976)

(25,209)
59
—
42
1,312
420
(38,684)
—
4,204
—
$ 684,638
550
2,672
(361,281)
—
(14)
158
1,670
436
(1,199)
3,146

—
$ 330,776

Comprised of: cumulative translation adjustments of $(7,458), $(11,572), and $(6,104), at December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010; after tax impact on pension benefits of $(34,487), $(34,155), and $(25,008) at
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010; and after tax impact on other postretirement benefits of $1,843, $2,953, and $4,314 at December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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KAYDON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
(In thousands)
2011

2010

550

$ 49,332

$ 56,045

19,147

20,219

20,925
3,585

2012
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities:
Depreciation
Amortization of intangible assets
Amortization of stock awards

$

Deferred financing fees

Deferred taxes
Tax benefit related to stock options exercised
Stock option compensation
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Non-cash postretirement benefits curtailment gains
Pension settlement charge
Contributions to qualified pension plans
Non-cash impairment charge
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and sale of businesses
and business components:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and taxes payable
Net cash from operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Dispositions of property, plant and equipment
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

3,076

3,146
717

4,204

148

3,649
7

388

34
1,670

1,312

(568)
—
2,914
(8,135)
42,953

(404)
(275)
—
(2,586)
—

11,510
16,592
(2,876)
(5,008)
489
86,882

(189)
(20,126)
(314)
2,903
(6,310)

(17,414)

(14,918)

2,158

Cash dividends paid
Purchase of treasury stock
Proceeds from long-term borrowings
Repayments of long-term borrowings
Credit facility issuance costs
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents – Beginning of Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents – End of Year
Cash paid for income taxes
Cash paid for interest

3,599

54,886
210

28
1,314
(186)
(3,451)

—
(2,271)

—
1,868
56
3,064
(4,341)

9,206
93,864
(15,397)
141

(51,267)
(66,523)

(39,610)
(54,318)

—
(15,256)

(367,851)
(1,199)
202,000
(25,623)
(1,357)
134

(25,082)
(38,684)
—
—
—

(24,477)
(27,043)

568
(193,328)
1,311
(171,658)

39
404

(63,323)
1,321
(61,434)

$225,214

$ 286,648

53,556

$225,214

$ 18,313

$ 15,618

2,380

—

$

4,035
231
3,756

—
—
(1,948)

153
186
(53,129)
(1,234)
24,245
$ 262,403
$286,648
$ 19,215
—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Inventories:

Principles of Consolidation:

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market, with cost
determined using the first-in, first-out method. Inventories are summarized
as follows at December 31 (in thousands):

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Kaydon
Corporation and its wholly-owned domestic and foreign subsidiaries
(“Kaydon” or the “Company”). All significant intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated.

Raw material
Work in process
Finished goods

Use of Estimates:

2012

2011

$ 38,410
24,319

$ 42,168

35,204
$ 97,933

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. While the Company does not believe that the
ultimate settlement of its assets or liabilities will materially affect the
Company’s financial condition or results of future operations, actual results
may differ from estimates provided.

Cash and Cash Equivalents:
The Company considers all highly liquid debt and investment
instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents are summarized as follows at December 31
(in thousands):

Money market and other short-term funds
Time deposits, other interest bearing accounts and other cash

2012

2011

$ 11,100

42,456

$ 194,501
30,713

$53,556

$225,214

29,408
38,630
$ 110,206

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. The cost is
depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets using the straightline method. Useful lives vary among the classifications, but generally fall
within the following ranges:
Buildings, land improvements and leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment

10-40 years
3-15 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the terms of the respective
leases or over their useful lives, whichever is shorter. Renewals and
betterments are capitalized while maintenance and repairs are charged to
operations in the year incurred.

The Company evaluates whether events and circumstances have
occurred that indicate the remaining estimated useful lives of property, plant
and equipment may warrant revision or that the remaining balances may
not be recoverable. When factors indicate that such costs should be
evaluated for possible impairment, the Company uses an estimate of the
undiscounted cash flows over the remaining lives of the assets to evaluate
whether the costs are recoverable.
In the third quarter of 2012, the Company completed a comprehensive
evaluation of its wind energy bearings business to align capacity with
expected future market needs and determined to restructure this line of
business. As part of this restructuring, the Company recorded a pre-tax
non-cash impairment charge of $43.0 million to reduce the carrying cost to
fair value, less costs to sell, for
KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
assets held for sale and to fair value for assets held and used. These held
for sale assets include equipment used in the manufacturing of large
diameter bearings principally used in the wind energy business. The value
of the assets held for sale, which had a net book value of $31.5 million,
were written down to fair value, less costs to sell, and are recorded on the
balance sheet at a value of $6.5 million. The charge also included the
impairment to fair value of certain other equipment used in the
manufacturing of large diameter bearings which continues to be held and
used. The assets to be held and used, which had a net book value of $22.8
million, were written down to the assets’ fair value of $4.8 million and
remain on the balance sheet in property, plant and equipment, net. The
Company did not dispose of any of these assets in the fourth quarter of
2012. The Company continues to monitor the assets held for sale and the
assets held and used related to this restructuring for changes fair value. No
changes in fair value were recorded in the fourth quarter of 2012. Future
changes in fair value could result in future additional losses or possible
gains depending on the change in estimates of fair value. The restructuring
is more fully described in Note 14 Wind Restructuring.

approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.
The fair value of the Company’s debt approximated the carrying value and
the carrying value is repayable at par at any time.

Derivative Financial Instruments:

The Company measures the cost of employee services received in
exchange for an award of stock option and time vesting restricted stock
award equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award.
The cost is recognized over the period during which an employee is required
to provide service in exchange for the award. In 2012, the Company granted
performance-based restricted stock awards. The Company measures the
cost of employee services received in exchange for these awards based on the
expected value of awards expected to vest after achievement of the applicable
performance award. The Company’s stock-based compensation plans are
discussed further in Note 6.

The Company periodically enters into derivative financial instruments
in the form of forward exchange contracts to reduce the effect of fluctuations
in exchange rates on certain short-term intercompany transactions as well as
certain third-party sales transactions denominated in non-functional
currencies. Based on the accounting guidance related to derivatives and
hedging activities, the Company records derivative financial instruments at
fair value. For derivative financial instruments designated and qualifying as
cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on these hedges is
reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income, and
is reclassified into earnings when the hedged transaction affects earnings.
As of December 31, 2012, the Company’s outstanding forward exchange
contracts were not material.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments:
The carrying amounts of financial instruments included in current
assets and current liabilities

36

Foreign Currency Translation:
Assets and liabilities of the Company’s international subsidiaries are
translated from the local functional currency into U.S. dollars at the
exchange rate in effect at year-end. Income statement accounts are translated
at the weighted average rate of exchange in effect during the year. The
resulting cumulative translation adjustment is recorded as a separate
component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Changes in
exchange rates applicable to non-functional currency assets and liabilities
are recorded as a component of exchange gains and losses as a component of
selling, general and administrative expenses. In 2012, the exchange gain was
$0.7 million. In 2011, the net exchange loss was less than $0.1 million and,
in 2010, a net exchange loss of $0.1 million was recorded.

Stock-Based Compensation:

Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable:
Sales are recognized in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, including the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 114, Topic 13: Revenue Recognition, which
requires that revenue is recognized when there is evidence of a sales
agreement, the delivery of the goods has occurred,
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
the sales price is fixed or determinable and the collectibility of the revenue is
reasonably assured. Sales are recorded upon shipment of product to
customers and transfer of title under standard commercial terms. Accounts
receivable, net of allowances, are recorded when revenue is recognized.
Allowances are recorded for uncollectible accounts receivable based on
specifically identified accounts receivable balances and an estimate of other
uncollectible balances based on a retrospective review of historical credits
issued and bad debt write-offs. The Company charges off accounts
receivable when it becomes probable and reasonably estimated that amounts
will not be collected.

Comprehensive Income:
Comprehensive income primarily consists of net income, pension and
other postretirement benefit adjustments and cumulative foreign currency
translation adjustments.

Legal Costs and Contingencies:
Estimated legal costs expected to be incurred in connection with
claims, lawsuits and environmental matters are accrued in the consolidated
financial statements. The costs accrued at December 31, 2012 and 2011,
were not material.

The Company assesses the need to record contingent liabilities on a
case-by-case basis. Reserves are recorded when the Company, in
consultation with counsel, determines that a loss related to a matter is both
probable and reasonably estimable. If no accrual for a loss contingency has
been recorded, but there is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss or an
additional loss may have occurred, the Company discloses, when material,
the nature of the contingency and provides an estimate of the possible loss
or range of loss or states that such an estimate cannot be made. At
December 31, 2012, there were no material reserves for litigation and
contingencies recorded.

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had approximately
$8.3 million of working capital, or $3.8 million after reserves at
December 31, 2011, invested on behalf of an international wind energy
customer. This included past due accounts receivable

and inventory manufactured on the customer’s behalf and designed to its
agreed upon specifications. The customer had not paid the Company and
had made a claim for material damages alleging that certain field
performance issues of its product were attributable to the quality of the
supplied bearings. After unsuccessful mediation, the parties proceeded to
binding arbitration, an arbitration tribunal was selected in the third quarter
of 2010 and the hearing phase of the arbitration process was conducted in
November 2011. With the completion of the arbitration hearings and the
absence of a settlement, the sale of the inventory was not expected in the
ordinary course of business. Accordingly, in the fourth quarter of 2011, the
Company reserved $4.1 million for the write down of the value of the
inventory to scrap value. With regard to the customer’s claim for material
damages, given the inherent uncertainty of the arbitration process, the
substantial volume of evidence and testimony provided since
commencement of the arbitration, and the complexity of the legal analysis
involved, the Company believed that it was reasonably possible, but not
probable, that the arbitrators would give credence to a portion of the
customer’s claims and that a loss had been incurred. However, due to these
uncertainties and complexities, the Company was unable to make an
estimate of a reasonably possible loss or range of loss prior to the final
decision of the arbitration tribunal.

On September 14, 2012, the arbitration tribunal issued its binding
executed final award. While the tribunal noted that, for the most part, the
Company successfully defended the substantial damages claim brought
against it, the tribunal awarded the customer $4.4 million for recovery of
replacement costs of a portion of the bearings supplied by the Company.
The tribunal rejected the Company’s claim for the recovery of inventory
costs and lost profits. As noted above, the related inventory had been written
down to scrap value at December 31, 2011. The tribunal also awarded the
Company $3.9 million related to the accounts receivable owed by the
customer to the Company. As a result of the arbitration award, in the third
quarter of 2012 the Company recorded a total net charge of $4.0 million
related to the ruling which consisted of a $4.4 million charge to cost of sales
for the replacement costs, and a reversal of $0.4 million of the previously
recorded accounts receivable

KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K

Source: KAYDON CORP, 10-K, February 21, 2013

37

Powered by Morningstar ® Document Research ℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this
information, except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
reserve which was recorded as a reduction in selling, general and
administration expense. The Company paid $0.5 million to the customer
early in the fourth quarter of 2012 in accordance with the terms of the
executed final award. This matter is within the Friction Control Products
segment.

presentation of information about the amounts reclassified out of
accumulated other comprehensive income by component for each reporting
period. This guidance is effective for the Company in the first quarter of
2013 and is not expected to have an effect on the Company’s financial
condition or results of operations.

Advertising Costs:

In addition, new accounting guidance was issued in 2011 and 2012
which was intended to reduce the complexity and costs of performing
annual goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset testing by allowing
companies the option to make a qualitative evaluation about the likelihood
of impairment to determine whether it should calculate the fair value of a
reporting unit or the indefinite-lived intangible asset. The adoption of this
guidance did not have an effect on the Company’s financial condition or
results of operations.

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and totaled $3.3 million,
$3.6 million and $2.7 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements:
New accounting guidance was issued in 2011 to require more
prominent disclosure of comprehensive income. This guidance was effective
for the Company beginning in the first quarter of 2012, and requires the
presentation of net income, items of other comprehensive income and total
comprehensive income in one continuous statement or two separate but
consecutive statements. The Company elected to present two separate but
consecutive statements. New accounting guidance was issued in February
2013 that requires the

Reclassifications:
When appropriate, certain items in the prior year financial statements
may be reclassified to conform to the presentation used in the current year.

NOTE 2 EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following table reconciles the numerators and denominators used in the calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share for each of the last three

years:
2011

2012

2010

(in thousands, except per
share data)

Earnings per share – Basic
Net income
Less: Net earnings allocated to participating securities – Basic
Income available to common shareholders – Basic
Weighted average common shares outstanding – Basic
Earnings per share – Basic
Earnings per share – Diluted
Net income
Less: Net earnings allocated to participating securities – Dilutive
Income available to common shareholders – Diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding – Diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding – Basic
Potential dilutive shares resulting from stock options
Weighted average common shares outstanding – Diluted
Earnings per share – Diluted

38

$

550
(5)

$ 49,332
(513)

$56,045
(602)
$55,443

545

$48,819

31,750

32,113

$ 0.02

$ 1.52

$

$ 49,332
(513)

$56,045
(602)

545

$48,819

$55,443

31,750

32,113

33,112

22

22
32,135
$ 1.52

33,137

$

550
(5)

$

31,772
$ 0.02

33,112
1.67

25
$

1.67
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
million special cash dividend on March 26, 2012 using existing cash
balances and the net proceeds from borrowings under the senior term loan
facility as more fully described in Note 5 Long-term Debt.

Certain options granted to purchase shares of common stock were
excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because the
option effect would have been antidilutive (in thousands):

Shares excluded

2012
564

2011
486

2010
403

NOTE 3 ACQUISITIONS
On April 8, 2011, the Company completed the purchase of all of the
outstanding shares of HAHN-Gasfedern GmbH and related real estate and
intangible property from Ulrich Hahn e.K. (“Hahn”) in a cash transaction
valued at $39.6 million. Goodwill and other intangible assets acquired
totaled $31.8 million. Hahn, based in Aichwald, Germany, manufactures
and sells high quality gas springs, tension springs and dampers for diverse
industrial markets. Hahn expands the Company’s international presence
and collaborates in product development and design as an integral part of
the Velocity Control Products reporting segment.
On June 5, 2012, the Company completed the acquisition of all of the
outstanding shares of Fabreeka Group Holdings, Inc. (“Fabreeka”) for cash
consideration of approximately $53 million. Goodwill and other intangible
assets acquired totaled $53.3 million. Fabreeka, based in Stoughton,
Massachusetts, is a leading provider of engineered vibration-isolation and
shock-control products, including isolation pads, isolation mounts and
highly engineered vibration solutions. Fabreeka’s products control
unwanted shock vibration to help reduce wear, maintenance costs and
down time for its customers, serving a diverse customer base across
numerous end-markets, such as test and measurement, industrial
machinery, manufacturing, precision equipment and aerospace and defense.
Fabreeka’s results are included in the Velocity Control Products segment.

NOTE 4 SPECIAL DIVIDEND
On February 22, 2012, Kaydon’s Board of Directors declared a
special cash dividend of $10.50 per common share payable to shareholders
of record as of March 5, 2012 with a payment date of March 26, 2012.
The Company paid the $336.1

NOTE 5 LONG-TERM DEBT
In September 2010, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the
“2010 credit agreement”) with a syndicate of lenders providing for a $250.0
million senior revolving credit facility. The 2010 credit agreement was
terminated on March 26, 2012. On March 26, 2012, the Company entered
into a new $400.0 million credit agreement (the “2012 credit agreement”)
with a syndicate of lenders providing for (a) a $150.0 million senior term
loan facility (the “term loan”), which the Company borrowed to fund a
portion of its $10.50 per common share special dividend paid to
shareholders on March 26, 2012 and (b) a $250.0 million senior revolving
credit facility (the “revolver”), the proceeds of which may be used by the
Company for working capital and general corporate purposes, including
acquisitions, payment of dividends and repurchases of the Company’s
capital stock. On June 5, 2012, the Company borrowed $50.0 million
under the revolver to fund the acquisition of Fabreeka.

The 2012 credit agreement matures on March 27, 2017 and is
guaranteed by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries. It is also
secured by a pledge of a majority of the outstanding stock of a whollyowned foreign subsidiary. In connection with the termination of the 2010
credit agreement, the Company accelerated the recognition of $0.2 million of
deferred financing fees related to the unamortized portion of the debt
issuance costs associated with lenders who are not parties to the 2012 credit
agreement. The then remaining unamortized portion of the 2010 debt
issuance costs of $1.1 million and the $1.4 million of debt issuance costs
related to the 2012 credit agreement are being amortized over the life of the
2012 credit agreement. Deferred debt issuance cost included in other assets
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012, equaled $2.1
million. Loans under the credit agreement bear interest at floating rates,
based on LIBOR plus an applicable margin, and are payable monthly,
bimonthly, or quarterly in accordance with the terms of the 2012 credit
agreement. The
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
term loan rate is currently at LIBOR plus 1.625 percent, and the revolver
rate is currently at LIBOR plus 1.375 percent.

The Company is obligated to make quarterly principal payments
throughout the term of the term loan and has the option to prepay term loan
amounts. The remaining balance of the term loan matures on March 27,
2017. At December 31, 2012, the Company’s outstanding balance under the
term loan totaled $144.4 million, of which $10.3 million was included in
the current portion of long-term debt line and $134.1 million was included
in the long-term debt line of the balance sheet. At December 31, 2012, the
Company’s outstanding balance under the revolver was $32.0 million and
was included in the long-term debt line of the balance sheet. Taking into
account the borrowings under the revolver and $3.3 million of letters of
credit issued under the credit agreement, the Company had availability
under the revolver of $214.7 million at December 31, 2012.
The 2012 credit agreement requires the Company to comply with
maximum leverage and minimum interest coverage ratios. In addition, the
2012 credit agreement contains other standard covenants such as those
which (subject to certain thresholds) limit the ability of the Company and
its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur debt, sell assets, incur
additional liens, make certain investments, enter into certain transactions
with shareholders or affiliates, or enter into speculative hedging
obligations. The 2012 credit agreement also includes customary events of
default which would permit the lenders to accelerate the repayment of
obligations under the 2012 credit agreement if not cured within applicable
grace periods. The Company was in compliance with all restrictive
covenants contained in the 2012 credit agreement at December 31, 2012.
Total borrowings under the 2012 credit agreement have the following
scheduled maturities (in thousands):
2013
2014
2016
2017

$ 10,313
$ 14,062
$ 15,000
$ 15,000
$ 122,000

Total

$ 176,375

2015

NOTE 6 STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
The Company’s 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan (“Incentive
Plan”), provides for the issuance of 2,000,000 shares of Company common
stock, plus an additional 2,000,000 shares resulting from certain
reacquisitions of shares by the Company, for stock-based incentives in
various forms. The Company’s 2003 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan
(“Directors Plan”) provides for the issuance of 300,000 shares of Company
common stock in various forms to non-employee members of the
Company’s Board of Directors. The Company has granted both restricted
stock awards and stock options pursuant to its equity incentive plans. In
addition, the Company’s Director Deferred Compensation Plan (“Director
Deferred Plan”) provides for the issuance of Company common stock to
non-employee members of the Company’s Board of Directors who elect to
defer all or a portion of their fees for services earned as a member of the
Board of Directors into a common stock account.

A summary of restricted stock award information for 2012 is as
follows:
Restricted
Stock

Outstanding at January 1, 2012
Granted
Vested
Canceled

Outstanding at December 31, 2012

311,237
120,365
(112,549)
(19,075)
299,978

Wtd. Avg. Grant
Date Fair Value
per Share

$
$
$
$
$

36.21
29.07
38.01
35.64
32.71

Pursuant to the Incentive Plan, the Company granted time vesting

restricted stock awards for 115,365 shares, 93,250 shares and
126,000 shares, of Company common stock during 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, to key employees of the Company. Pursuant to the Directors
Plan, the Company granted restricted stock awards for 5,000 shares of
Company common stock during each of 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, to non-employee members of the Company’s Board of
Directors. During 2011, 3,991 shares of restricted stock were canceled and
131,652 shares of restricted stock vested. The weighted average fair value
per share of the restricted stock awards granted, on the date of grant, was

$38.53 in 2011.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Grant-date fair value of restricted stock awards equals the closing
market price of Company common stock on the date of grant. The net value
of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock
awards aggregated $6.8 million at December 31, 2012 and is expected to be
amortized on a straight line basis over a weighted average period of 2.8
years. The net value of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested
restricted stock awards aggregated $7.1 million at December 31, 2011 and
$7.7 million at December 31, 2010. Time vesting restricted stock awards
normally vest annually, but they also vest upon the occurrence of certain
events, including the disability or death of a grantee while employed at the
Company, or, in certain circumstances, a change in control of the
Company under defined conditions.

Time vesting restricted stock awards granted pursuant to the
Company’s equity incentive plans allow for continued annual vesting if a
grantee retires at or after the age of 65, even though the grantee is no longer
providing services to the Company. Compensation cost related to grantees
who become retirement eligible during the normal vesting period is amortized
ratably over the period from the grant date to the date retirement eligibility is
achieved. Compensation expense is recognized immediately for awards
granted to retirement eligible employees.
In addition to the time vesting restricted stock discussed above, in the
first three months of 2012, the Company granted performance based
restricted stock awards under the Incentive Plan. On the grant date,
recipients were granted 34,800 restricted shares, which equal the target
award that will vest upon 100 percent achievement of a designated growth
rate of earnings performance goal, over a three year performance period, as
set out in the award agreement. Partial vesting of a minimum of 50 percent
of the target shares will occur in the case of achievement of 50 percent of the
performance goal, at 150 percent achievement of the performance goal a
maximum award equal to 200 percent of the target award will vest, and at
achievement of less than 50 percent of the performance goal all award
shares will be forfeited. Vesting will accelerate as to a portion of

the restricted shares under certain circumstances upon the death, disability
or retirement at or after age 65 of the holder. Awards will otherwise be
forfeited if vesting does not occur or the employee leaves the
Company. Awards will be fully vested upon a change of control as required
by the Incentive Plan. The target awards were valued at the weighted average
grant date stock price of $35.39. Compensation expense for these awards
will be recorded over the three year performance period and will be adjusted
as necessary whenever the estimate of the level of achievement of the
performance goal is revised. In the second quarter of 2012, the Company
granted 23,064 performance based restricted shares which will vest at
specified levels similar to those granted in the first quarter 2012 upon
achievement of a designated growth rate of earnings performance goal, over
a three year performance period which begins in 2013. The target awards
were valued at the weighted average grant date stock price of $21.66.
Dividends on performance based restricted stock awards are calculated
when dividends are paid on common stock and the equivalent value will be
paid in common stock on the vesting date based on the number of restricted
shares that vest.
Compensation cost related to all restricted stock awards during 2012,
2011 and 2010, was $3.1 million, $4.2 million and $4.0 million,
respectively.

Pursuant to the Director Deferred Plan, the Company has provided for
13,531 shares, 9,282 shares and 23,890 shares of Company common
stock, known as phantom stock units, as of December 31, 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively, which may be issued at some future date as elected by
the members of the Board of Directors participating in this plan. During
2011, 16,585 of these shares were issued as the result of the retirement of a
Director. Annual compensation expense related to providing for these
phantom stock units totaled $0.1 million in 2011 and 2010. No directors
deferred their compensation in 2012. The increase in phantom shares was
attributable to phantom shares associated with dividends declared but

unpaid in 2012.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
A summary of stock option information is as follows:
2011

2012
Options
619,000

Outstanding at Beginning of Year
Granted
Canceled
Exercised
Outstanding at End of Year
Exercisable at End of Year
Weighted Average Fair Value of Options Granted
Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life (years):
Outstanding at End of Year
Exercisable at End of Year

115,500
(30,900)
(9,100)
694,500
501,800
$
9.09

5.8
4.9

Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to the closing
market price of Company common stock on the date of grant. Options
granted become exercisable at the rate of 20 percent or 100 percent per year,
commencing one year after the date of grant, and options expire ten years
after the date of grant. The intrinsic value of options exercised totaled less
than $0.1 million in each of 2012, 2011 and 2010. The intrinsic value of
options outstanding as of December 31, 2012 equaled $0.9 million, and the
intrinsic value of options exercisable as of December 31, 2012 equaled $0.6
million. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted
average assumptions, which are updated to reflect current expectations of
the risk-free interest rate, expected dividend yield, expected life and using
historical volatility to project expected volatility:

Risk-free interest rate

Expected dividend yield
Expected life
Expected volatility

2012
1.29%

2.87%
6.5 years
36.4%

2011
2.2%
2.0%

2010

6 years

6 years

36.2%

34.5%

2.7%
2.1%

Compensation expense related to outstanding stock options is
recognized on a straight line basis and totaled $1.7 million in 2012 and
$1.3 million in 2011 and 2010. The amount recorded in 2012 included
$0.9 million in costs associated with the
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Wtd. Avg.
Ex. Price

$ 28.33
$ 24.61
$ 25.95
$ 14.13

Options
603,000

17,500

—
(1,500)

$ 28.01

619,000

29.71

416,700

$

2010
Wtd. Avg.
Ex. Price

$ 38.83
$ 37.75

—
$ 26.01
$ 38.83
$ 40.02

Options

Wtd. Avg.
Ex. Price

549,750
85,000
(25,500)
(6,250)

$ 38.67
$ 35.11
$ 26.36
$ 24.42

603,000

$ 38.83

$ 11.60

298,400
$ 10.56

6.1
5.6

6.7
6.3

$

40.36

modification of certain options to reduce the exercise price by the amount of
the $10.50 per common share special dividend paid on March 26, 2012.
This modification was required due to a February 2012 amendment of the
adjustment provision of the Plan to provide for mandatory adjustment of
awards, including outstanding awards, subject to compliance with
Section 409A under the Internal Revenue Code, upon the occurrence of any
dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash (other than
regular, quarterly cash dividends), shares, other securities or other
property), changes in the capital or shares of capital stock, recapitalization,
stock split, reverse stock split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, splitup, spin-off, combination, or exchange of shares or other securities of the
Company or other extraordinary transaction or event which effects the
shares. Such adjustment is made as appropriate to the number and type of
shares subject to the award, or the grant, purchase or exercise price of
outstanding awards. Previously such adjustments were permitted but were
not required under the Plan. All options granted under the Plan after the
February 2012 amendment require such modification. The 2012 weighted
average exercise prices in the above summary of stock option information
table reflect the modification of the prices of each option. An additional $0.1
million of costs associated with the modification of certain options is being
recorded over the remaining vesting periods of those options.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
The fair value of the modification was estimated using a binomial optionpricing model with the following weighted average assumptions, which
reflected the then current risk-free interest rate, expected dividend yield,
expected life and historical volatility used to project expected volatility:

Risk-free interest rate

Expected dividend yield
Expected life
Expected volatility

1.35%
2.90%
5.9 years
35.1%

At December 31, 2012, a total of 2,080,952 shares remained available
for grant under the Incentive Plan, and 80,400 shares remained available for
grant under the Directors Plan. The number of shares available for grant
under the Director Deferred Plan is not limited in amount, other than by the
dollar value of the Directors’ annual compensation. The Company’s
practice is to purchase its shares on the open market for issuance under its
various equity incentive plans.

NOTE 7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
The Company sponsors several defined contribution plans for various
employee groups. Company contributions are discretionary and may be
based on a match on employee deferrals or as a

percentage of each covered employee’s salary in accordance with the
provisions of each plan and totaled $1.5 million, $1.8 million and
$0.4 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The Company maintains several defined benefit pension plans, which
cover the majority of U.S. employees hired prior to the closure of certain
plans to new entrants. Benefits paid under these plans are based generally
on employees’ years of service and compensation during the final years of
employment. In addition, the 2012 pension disclosures shown below
include the obligations, status, and results of the pension plan of Fabreeka,
a business which was acquired by the Company in 2012.
The Company provides certain retiree health care and life insurance
benefits covering certain U.S. employees. Certain employees are generally
eligible for benefits upon retirement or long-term disability and completion
of a specified number of years of credited service. These benefits are subject
to cost-sharing provisions and other limitations. The Company does not
pre-fund these benefits and has the right to modify or terminate certain of
these benefits in the future. The Company accrues for the cost of providing
postretirement benefits for medical insurance coverage over the active service
period of the employee.
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Obligations and Funded Status:
Postretirement Benefits

Pension Benefits

2011
2012
(in thousands)

2012
Change in Benefit Obligation:
Benefit obligation, beginning of period
Service cost
Interest cost

$(142,818 )
(3,372)
(7,398)
(17,969)

Actuarial gain (loss)
Benefits paid
Business combination
Liability change due to curtailment
Liability change due to settlement
Settlement payments
Benefit obligation, December 31
Change in Plan Assets:
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of period
Actual return on plan assets
Business combination
Company contributions
Plan participants’ contributions
Benefits paid
Settlements paid
Fair value of plan assets, December 31
Net liability, December 31
Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets Consist of:
Employee benefits
Long-term postretirement and postemployment benefit obligations
Accumulated other comprehensive income:
Prior service cost (credit), net of tax
Net actuarial (gain) loss, net of tax

At December 31, 2012, each of the Company’s qualified defined
benefit pension plans had a shortfall of plan assets compared to the
accumulated benefit obligation (“ABO”) with an aggregate ABO of $150.4
million and aggregate plan assets of $131.8 million. At December 31, 2011,
each of the Company’s qualified defined benefit pension plans had a
shortfall of plan assets compared to the ABO of $126.3 million and
aggregate plan assets of $109.7 million. Included in the above table is a
non-qualified supplemental pension plan covering certain active and retired
employees. This non-qualified pension plan provides for benefits in
addition to those provided by the qualified plans. This non-qualified plan
has no plan assets. The ABO for this plan was $11.5 million at
December 31, 2012 and $9.8 million at December 31, 2011.
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$(128,681 )
(2,900)

$

(6,882)
(10,933)

6,813
(16,185)

6,451

—
127
—
—
(142,818)

—
1,914

7,275
(171,740)

(6,813)
(7,275)
131,813
$ (39,927)

109,709
$ (33,109)

$
(663)
$ (39,264)

$
(663)
$ (32,446)

$
22
$ 34,295

$
$

(227)
443

—
82
—
—
(6,824)

—
—
—
443

$

142
(585)
—
—
(6,824)

$
$

(6,441)

$
$

(1,279)
(1,674)

97

(242)
—
—
(7,669)

—

25

(6,753)
(75)
(294)

—
—
—
145

(6,451)

34,176

$

(7,669)

—
3,253
—

8,802
—

(6,824)
(79)
(288)
(623)
145

—
—
—
—

111,690
1,217

109,709
16,714
10,676

2011

(439)

$
$

(7,230)

$
$

(1,009)

(833)

(383)

Pension Benefits

2012

2011

2010

(in thousands)
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost:
Service cost
Interest cost

Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of:
Unrecognized net prior service cost
Unrecognized net actuarial loss
Settlement loss
Curtailment loss
Net periodic benefit cost

$ 3,372

$ 2,900

7,398
(8,961)

6,882
(8,482)

5
5,202

3,297

6,800
(7,678)

65

—

—
—

$ 9,930

$ 4,662

2,914

$ 2,830

62
3,218
—
6
$5,238

In September 2012, the Company amended a domestic qualified
pension plan to allow certain eligible individuals with a vested pension
benefit to elect a lump sum payment or an immediate annuity option in
settlement of all future pension benefits to
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
which they would otherwise have been entitled. The Company incurred an
actuarially determined 2012 non-cash settlement loss of $2.9 million,
recorded as selling, general and administrative expenses, associated with
this program which concluded in the fourth quarter of 2012. Approximately
50 percent of the eligible individuals elected to participate, resulting in lump
sum payments of $7.3 million on the settlement of future pension benefits
through the distribution of assets from the pension plan.
Net periodic benefit cost for the non-qualified supplemental pension
plan was $0.9 million, $0.8 million and $0.8 million in 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively.

Postretirement Benefits

2011

2012

2010

(in thousands)
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost (Income):
Service cost
Interest cost

$ 78

$

288

75
294

$

145
395

Amortization of:
(701)
(424)

Unrecognized net prior service credit
Unrecognized net actuarial gain

—

Curtailment gain

$(759)

Net periodic benefit cost (income)

(1,261)

(1,325)
(459)
(3,457)
$ (4,701)

(497)
(275)
$ (1,664)

The factors related to the assumed annual rate of increase in covered health care costs for determining the annual cost and the year end benefit obligation
are as follows:
Assumed health care cost trend rates
Annual rate of increase for next year
Ultimate rate to which the cost trend rate is to decline
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate

Assumed health care cost trend rates may have a significant effect on
the amounts reported for the postretirement health care plans. A 1.0 percent

For determining 2012 cost

For determining 2012 obligation

8.00%
5.20%

8.00%
5.20%

2019

2019

change in the assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following
effects:
1-

1-

PercentagePoint
Increase

PercentagePoint
Decrease

(in thousands)
Effect on net service cost and interest cost
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation

The Company made changes to its postretirement benefit plans which
resulted in curtailment gains totaling $0.3 million in 2011 and $3.5 million
in 2010. These gains were recorded as reductions to selling, general and
administrative expenses. The postretirement health care benefits provided to
eligible participants cease when the participants reach 65 years of age.
The amount in accumulated other comprehensive income expected to
be recognized as a component of net periodic benefit cost in 2013

$
$

20
396

$
$

include the amortization of $4.9 million unrecognized net actuarial loss
related to the pension plans. The amounts in accumulated other
comprehensive income expected to be recognized as components of net
periodic benefit cost in 2013 include the amortization of $0.3 million and
$0.3 million of the prior service credit and unrecognized net actuarial gain,
respectively, related to the other postretirement benefit plans.
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Additional Information:
Postretirement

Pension
Benefits

2011

2012

4.17%
4.36%
3.70%

5.01%
5.05%
4.00%

2.89%
N/A

N/A

3.70%

4.00%

5.01%
5.05%
7.70%
4.00%

5.46%
5.50%
7.70%
4.50%

4.16%

4.50%

N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

4.00%

4.50%

2012
Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations:
Discount rate – qualified pension plans and postretirement benefit plans
Discount rate – non-qualified pension plan
Rate of compensation increase – age graded
Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost:
Discount rate – qualified pension plans and postretirement benefit plans
Discount rate – non-qualified pension plan
Expected long-term return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase – age graded

In developing the discount rate assumption used to determine the
pension and postretirement benefit obligations, the Company uses the
weighted average of market-observed yields for high quality fixed income
securities with maturities that correspond to the payment of benefits. The
equivalent weighted average discount rate is calculated by imputing the
interest rate that equates the total present value with the stream of future
cash flows.

The rate of compensation increase used to determine pension and
postretirement benefit obligations was developed using an age-graded salary
scale with a weighted average of 3.7 percent at December 31, 2012 and 4.0
percent at December 31, 2011. The rate of compensation increase used to
determine pension and postretirement benefit costs was developed using an
age-graded salary scale with a weighted average of 4.0 percent at
December 31, 2012 and 4.5 percent at December 31, 2011.
The December 31, 2012 pension and postretirement benefit obligations
were computed using the 2013 IRS Static Mortality Table, which projects 7
years of future mortality improvements for annuitants and 15 years of
future mortality improvements for non-annuitants. The December 31, 2011
pension and postretirement benefit obligations were computed using the
2012 IRS Static Mortality Table, which projects 7 years of future mortality
improvements for annuitants and 15 years of future mortality
improvements for non-annuitants. The December 31, 2010 pension and
postretirement benefit obligations were computed using the RP-2000
Combined Healthy Mortality Table with future mortality improvement
projections to 2011.
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Benefits

2011
4.16%

The Company determines the overall expected long-term rate of return
for plan assets by evaluating the historical and expected returns of the
individual asset classes comprising the total plan assets. For individual
categories of equity securities, historical total and real rates of return are
considered, together with inflation and overall market factors including
dividend yield, earnings growth, changes in price to earnings ratios and
volatility of returns. For various fixed income asset categories expected longterm returns are determined after consideration of current yields on fixed
income securities, inflation, historical yields relative to benchmarks and
long-term default rates.

Plan assets:
The assets of the Company’s qualified defined benefit pension plans
are invested with an investment program objective to maintain a level of
plan funding consistent with actuarial recommendations sufficient to fund
future pension liabilities, achieve a rate of return that matches or exceeds the
benchmark over a full market cycle, and minimize risk for the expected
level of return.
The overall investment performance objective for each investment
category is to exceed the total fund policy benchmark index return over a
full market cycle. For investments in domestic equities, fixed income
investments and international equities, actively managed investment returns
are expected to exceed the designated benchmark index returns over a full
market cycle, and indexed investment returns are expected to closely
replicate the investment return of the designated benchmark index. To
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
diversify investments and to limit exposure to any one manager, investment
style, or security, actively managed domestic equity investments are
allocated to investment managers within each sector of the domestic equity
market (large capitalization, mid capitalization and small capitalization

stocks).
The Company’s asset allocation policy permits allocation ranges from
40 to 70 percent U.S. equities, zero to 25 percent of non-U.S. equities, 10 to
40 percent core bonds and zero to 20 percent in high yield and real estate
investments. This allocation provides a dynamic asset allocation approach
which reflects and incorporates plan liabilities to reduce the volatility of
plan expense and contributions. At December 31, 2012, the Company’s
current target allocation was 75 percent equities and 25 percent bonds.

A summary of actual allocations of plan assets is as follows:
Plan Assets at
December 31,

December 31,

2012

2011

Asset Category:
Domestic equity – large cap
Domestic equity – mid cap
Domestic equity – small cap
International equity
Core fixed income
Total

42%
12%
5%

44%

12%
5%

16%

14%

2 5%

2 5%

100%

100%

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, plan assets were invested in
common and collective funds. The pension plans own proportional shares
of these common and collective funds which are valued using the net asset
values provided by the trustee of the funds. While the net asset values
represent fair value, the prices are not all published daily on an active
market. Therefore, these investments are included in level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy. The Company tested selected valuations of underlying assets of
each fund family at December 31, 2012 and 2011.
Plan Assets at December 31, 2012

Total Fair Value
Measurement at
December 31, 2012

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets
(Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable Inputs
(Level 3)

55,502

131,813

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Significant Other
Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable Inputs
(Level 3)

47,864
13,261

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

(in thousands)
Asset Category:
Domestic equity – large cap
Domestic equity – mid cap
Domestic equity – small cap
International equity
Core fixed income
Collective short term investment fund
Total

131,813

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Total Fair Value
Measurement at
December 31, 2011

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets
(Level 1)

$

55,502
16,419
6,717

20,550
32,537
88
$

$

16,419
6,717

20,550
32,537
88
$

Plan Assets at December 31, 2011

(in thousands)
Asset Category:
Domestic equity – large cap
Domestic equity – mid cap
Domestic equity – small cap
International equity
Core fixed income
Collective short term investment fund
Total

$

47,864
13,261

5,426
15,588
27,266
304
$

109,709

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

5,426
15,588
27,266
304
$

109,709
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Cash Flows:

assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which
the differences are expected to reverse.

The following are expected net benefit payments:

The components of income before income taxes are as follows (in
Pension
Benefits

Postretirement
Benefits

thousands):

(in thousands)
Year ending December 31,
2013
2014

2015
2016
2017

2018-2022

$ 7,553
$ 8,042
$ 8,439
$ 8,894
$ 9,280
$50,910

$
$
$
$
$
$

439

595
702
883
1,013

4,289

The Company expects to make cash contributions of approximately
$2.4 million to its pension plans in 2013. The Company reviews its
funding strategy on an ongoing basis. The Company expects to contribute
approximately $0.4 million to its postretirement benefit plans in 2013.

Total minimum rentals payable under operating leases that have initial
or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year at
December 31, 2012 are as follows (in thousands):

2015
2016
2017
Thereafter

$2,593
$ 1,989
$ 1,638
$ 1,466
$ 777
$ 923

2011

2010

$ 43,521

$ 59,392

26,818

22,482

$ 12,304

$ 70,339

$ 81,874

2012

2011

2010

$ 5,912

$ 9,604

$ 15,812

87

515

5,607
11,606

7,239
17,358

992
5,269
22,073

U.S. Federal

1,275

4,369

3,738

State
Foreign

7
(1,134)

Current:
U.S. Federal

Deferred:

184

87

(904)

(69)

148

3,649

3,756

$11,754

$ 21,007

$25,829

The following is a reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income
tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate:

35.0%
(0.7)

2011
35.0%
0.5

(5.4)

(1.2)

(1.4)

64.4

(4.4)

(3.6)

—
29.9%

0.4
31.5%

2012

Aggregate rental expense was $3.1 million, $3.0 million and
$2.5 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

U.S. federal statutory rate

NOTE 9 INCOME TAXES

Differences in income taxes on foreign earnings, losses and
remittances
Other, net

State taxes, net of federal benefit
U.S. federal tax benefit of domestic production activities

deduction

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the
consolidated financial statements or tax returns. Under this method,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference
between the consolidated financial statement and tax basis of

2012
$22,011
(9,707)

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in
thousands):

State
Foreign

NOTE 8 LEASE COMMITMENTS

Year ending December 31,
2013
2014

Domestic
Foreign

Effective tax rate

2.2
95.5%

2010

35.0%
1.1

Differences in income taxes on foreign earnings, losses and remittances
in 2012 included the effects of losses from impaired assets owned by
entities domiciled in lower effective tax rate jurisdictions than in the U.S.

The Company has liabilities recorded for unrecognized tax benefits
totaling $1.3 million at
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
December 31, 2012, all of which would affect the effective tax rate. It is the
Company’s policy to include interest and penalties incurred due to
underpayment or late payment of income taxes due to a taxing authority on a
net-of-tax basis as a component of income tax expense. The Company has
recorded $0.6 million, $0.7 million and $0.9 million

in liabilities for tax-related interest and penalties on its consolidated balance
sheet, at December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The Company
does not expect that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will
significantly change within the next twelve months.

The following is a reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for 2012, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

Unrecognized tax benefits at January 1
Increase in unrecognized tax benefits as a result of:
Tax positions taken in the current period
Tax positions taken in a prior period
Decrease in unrecognized tax benefits as a result of:
Tax positions taken in a prior period
Settlements with taxing authorities
Lapse of the applicable statute of limitations
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31

Valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities:
Plant and equipment basis differences
Intangibles

Net deferred tax liability

2011

2010

$2,096

$ 2,463

154
—

126
—

111

(76)

—
(543)
$1,288

The tax effect and type of significant temporary differences by
component which gave rise to the net deferred tax liability at December 31,
2012 and 2011 were as follows (in thousands):

Deferred tax assets:
Postretirement and postemployment benefit obligations
Financial accruals and reserves not currently deductible
Inventory basis differences
Foreign operating loss carryforwards
Federal tax credit carryforwards
State tax credit carryforwards
Other

2012
$ 1,753

2012

2011

$ 17,556
3,444

6,929

$ 15,128
3,937
7,334

973

1,513

732
1,286
2,708
33,628
(2,402)
31,226
(12,696)
(30,340)
(43,036)
$(11,810)

310

965
1,854
31,041
(1,739)

29,302
(14,185)
(20,262)
(34,447)
$ (5,145)

The Company, or one of its subsidiaries, operates and files income tax
returns in the United States, various states, and foreign jurisdictions.
Foreign jurisdictions significant to the Company

(210)

—
(259)
$1,753

—
(208)
—
(270)
$ 2,096

include Germany and the United Kingdom. With limited exceptions, the
Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal tax examinations for years
before 2009, state examinations for years before 2007, German tax
examinations for years before 2010, or United Kingdom tax examinations
for years before 2011.

The Company had available foreign net operating loss carryforwards
of $1.0 million ($3.6 million pre-tax) and $1.5 million ($5.7 million pretax) at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, with expiration dates
from 2014 to 2020. In addition, the Company had federal tax credit
carryforwards of $0.7 million and $0.3 million, at December 31, 2012 and
2011, respectively, with expiration dates from 2013 to 2023. The Company
also had available state tax credit carryforwards of $1.3 million ($2.0
million pre-tax) and $1.0 million ($1.5 million pre-tax) at December 31,
2012 and 2011, respectively, with expiration dates from 2021 to 2026. The
Company has a valuation allowance recorded of $1.0 million on foreign net
operating loss carryforwards, $0.1 million on federal tax credit
carryforwards and $1.3 million on state tax credit carryforwards at
December 31, 2012. The valuation allowances represent carryforwards for
which utilization is uncertain because it is unlikely that the credits will be
utilized
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
given certain projected tax liabilities, tax utilization limitations and limited
carryforward periods. Tax benefits of foreign operating loss carryforwards,
federal and state tax credit carryforwards are evaluated on an ongoing basis,
including a review of the historical and projected future operating results,
the eligible carryforward period and other circumstances.

The net deferred tax asset recorded as an other current asset was
$9.9 million and $9.2 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. The net deferred tax liability recorded as an other liability was
$21.7 million and $14.3 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries were
$78.0 million at December 31, 2012. The Company has not provided for
U.S. income taxes on these undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries as
these earnings are intended to be permanently reinvested. The amounts
subject to U.S. taxation upon remittance of these earnings as dividends
would be partially offset by available foreign tax credits.

NOTE 10 GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The Company annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a need, tests the carrying values of goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment. The Company identifies
impairment of goodwill by comparing the fair value of each of its reporting
units with the reporting unit’s carrying value.

During 2012, the Company’s goodwill impairment testing revealed
that the estimated fair values of all of its reporting units exceeded their
carrying values, which indicated no goodwill impairment. The Company’s
goodwill impairment testing revealed that the excess of the estimated fair
value of each of the reporting units tested over their carrying value
(expressed as a percentage of the carrying value) at the July 31 annual
testing date ranged from approximately 18 percent to approximately 275
percent.

After the Company’s annual July 31 testing date, the Company
recorded substantial asset impairments as part of its wind restructuring as
more fully described in Note 14, which reduced the carrying value of the
affected reporting unit, and which will reduce the future cash flows related
to the wind energy business. The affected reporting unit, when tested at
July 31 had a fair value that substantially exceeded its carrying value. The
Company considered the effect the wind restructuring had on the affected
reporting unit’s carrying value and the effect of the reduced future cash
flows on its fair value and determined that no interim testing of goodwill
was required.
Certain trademarks are the Company’s only indefinite-lived intangible
assets. The Company identifies impairment of these trademarks by
comparing their fair value to their carrying value. The fair values of the
trademarks are calculated based on estimates of discounted future cash
flows related to the net amount of royalty expenses avoided due to the
existence of the trademarks. During 2012, trademarks were tested for
impairment with no impairment loss being realized.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows (in thousands):

Balance at January 1, 2011
Goodwill
Accumulated impairment losses

Friction
Control
Products

Control
Products

$ 56,396

$ 43,200

Velocity

Other
Industrial
Products

Total

$ 62,532
(18,700)

$162,128
(18,700)

—

—

$ 56,396

$ 43,200

$ 43,832

$ 143,428

Goodwill acquired

—

15,098

15,098

Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes

(15)

—
—
$ 43,832
—
—

$ 157,087

$ 62,532
(18,700)

$ 209,023
(18,700)

$ 43,832

$ 190,323

Balance at December 31, 2011
Goodwill acquired
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes
Balance at December 31, 2012
Goodwill
Accumulated impairment losses
Balance at December 31, 2012

The accumulated impairment losses include impairment losses of
$1.9 million recorded in 2004 and $16.8 million recorded in 2002 as a
result of the Company’s annual testing of goodwill. The Company acquired
goodwill of $32.2 million in 2012 associated with its June 5, 2012
acquisition of Fabreeka, and acquired goodwill of $15.1 million in 2011
associated with the acquisition of Hahn. Goodwill is calculated as the excess
of the purchase

(1,424)

$ 56,381

$ 56,874

—
721

32,231
284

$ 57,102

$ 89,389

—
$ 57,102

—
$ 89,389

(1,439)

32,231
1,005

price over the net assets recognized and represents the future economic
benefits arising from other assets acquired that could not be individually
identified and separately recognized. The Company also acquired other
intangible assets as part of the Fabreeka acquisition. A value of $11.4
million was assigned to customer lists which is being amortized over ten
years. A value of $9.7 million was assigned to the non-amortizing
tradename.

Other intangible assets are summarized as follows (in thousands):
2011

2012

Amortized Intangible Assets

Customer relationships and lists
Patents and developed technology
Distributor agreements
Product names

Gross
Carrying
Amount
$ 53,474
7,991
374

Accumulated
Amortization

$

23,197
4,945
310
243

$

28,695

320
$ 62,159

Gross
Carrying
Amount
$ 41,791
7,724
374

Accumulated
Amortization

$

20,096
4,462
277
219

$

25,054

320
$ 50,209
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
The intangible assets are being amortized at pro rata rates or on a
straight-line basis, whichever is appropriate, over their respective useful
lives.

Unamortized Intangible Assets

2011

2012
Carrying
Amount

Carrying
Amount

$ 15,713

$ 5,985

(in thousands)

Trademarks
Aggregate Intangible Assets Amortization Expense

(in thousands)
For the year ended December 31, 2011
For the year ended December 31, 2012

$
$

3,076

3,599

Estimated Intangible Assets Amortization Expense

(in thousands)
For the year ending December 31, 2013
For the year ending December 31, 2014
For the year ending December 31, 2015
For the year ending December 31, 2016
For the year ending December 31, 2017

$ 3,849
$ 3,539
$ 3,218
$ 3,128
$ 2,952

NOTE 11 BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Company operates through operating segments for which separate
financial information is available and for which operating results are
evaluated regularly by the Company’s chief operating decision maker in
determining resource allocation and assessing performance. Certain of the
operating segments have similar economic characteristics, as well as other
common attributes, including nature of the products and production
processes, distribution patterns and classes of customers and are aggregated
into reporting segments. Information for those operating segments that do not
meet the aggregation criteria to form a reporting segment is combined and
disclosed as “Other Industrial Products.”

52

The Company has two reportable segments and other operating
segments engaged in the manufacture and sale of the following:
Friction Control Products – complex components used in alternative
energy, specialized robotics, medical, aerospace, defense, security,
electronic, material handling, construction and other industrial applications.
Products include anti-friction bearings, split roller bearings and specialty
balls.

Velocity Control Products – complex components used in specialized
robotics, material handling, machine tool, medical, amusement and other
industrial applications. Products include industrial shock absorbers, safety
shock absorbers, velocity controls, gas springs, rotary dampers, vibrationisolation and shock-control products, including isolation pads, isolation
mounts and highly engineered vibration solutions.

Other Industrial Products – complex and standard ring and seal
products, filter elements and liquid and gas-phase air filtration systems,
metal alloys, machine tool components, presses, dies and benders used in a
variety of applications.
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those
described in Note 1. Segment performance is evaluated based on segment
operating income and segment assets.
Items not allocated to segment operating income include certain
amortization expenses, certain corporate administrative expenses and other
amounts. Corporate assets consist of cash and cash equivalents, certain
prepaid expenses, other assets and fixed assets. The selling price for
transfers between operating segments and geographic areas is generally
based on cost plus a mark-up. Sales between reporting segments are not
material.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Included in net sales were sales to one customer representing 10.6
percent, 9.9 percent and 16.6 percent of total consolidated net sales in
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Certain sales to this customer

were included in the Friction Control Products segment and in the
Company’s Other Industrial Products businesses.

2012

2011

2010

$257,955
106,504

$255,025
89,766

$ 299,009

110,745
$ 475,204

115,329
$ 460,120

104,771

Net sales

(in thousands)
Friction Control Products
Velocity Control Products
Other Industrial Products
Total consolidated net sales

60,208
$463,988

2012

2011

2010

$(11,485)

$ 61,317

11,706

$ 37,382
21,199
13,708

22,904

72,289

Operating income (loss)

(in thousands)
Friction Control Products
Velocity Control Products
Other Industrial Products
Total segment operating income
Items not allocated to segment operating income
Interest expense
Interest income
Income before income taxes

22,683
(7,792)
(3,135)

The Friction Control Products operating loss included $46.3 million of
impairment, severance and other charges associated with the wind energy
restructuring as more fully described in Note 14. Items not allocated to
segment operating income included a charge of $2.9 million in 2012 related
to the settlement of certain of the Company’s pension

(2,053)
(388)

327

491

$ 12,304

$ 70,339

14,265
9,031
84,613
(2,994)
(231)
486
$81,874

benefit obligations, and curtailment gains totaling $0.3 million and $3.5
million in 2011 and 2010, respectively, related to certain changes in the
Company’s postretirement benefit plans, and costs associated with due
diligence of $1.6 million, $1.2 million, and $4.0 million in 2012, 2011
and 2010, respectively.
2012

2011

2010

$ 14,450

$ 16,305

$ 18,119

4,338

3,051

3,679

3,625

2,197
3,861

279
$22,746

314

333

$23,295

$24,510

2012

2011

2010

$ 9,398
3,671

$ 8,278
3,164

$ 10,679
1,496

2,706
1,639

3,022
454

2,972
250

$17,414

$14,918

$15,397

Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets

(in thousands)
Friction Control Products
Velocity Control Products
Other Industrial Products
Corporate
Total consolidated depreciation and amortization of intangible assets

Additions to property, plant and equipment

(in thousands)
Friction Control Products
Velocity Control Products
Other Industrial Products
Corporate
Total consolidated additions to property, plant and equipment
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
2012

2011

$ 273,904
194,350

$ 332,061

Total assets

(in thousands)
Friction Control Products
Velocity Control Products
Other Industrial Products
Corporate
Total consolidated assets

109,655
37,253
$615,162

118,331
107,922
233,383
$ 791,697

Geographic Information:
The Company attributes net sales to different geographic areas on the basis of the location of the customer. Long-lived tangible assets are shown based on
the physical location of the assets. Net sales and long-lived tangible assets by geographic area are listed below. Long-lived tangible assets primarily include net
property, plant and equipment:
2012

2011

2010

United States

$275,545

$262,970

Germany

57,353
142,306
$ 475,204

57,680

$295,854
39,978

139,470

128,156

$ 460,120

$ 463,988

$ 76,782

$ 81,389

20,081

61,952
25,605
$ 168,946

$ 85,581
68,766

Net Sales

(in thousands)

Other Countries
Total
Long-lived Tangible Assets

(in thousands)
United States
Mexico
Other Countries
Total

NOTE 12 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
In 2012 and 2011, the Company recorded assets and liabilities
acquired in its business combinations at fair value as more fully described
in Notes 3 and 10. The Company’s wind energy related production assets
are valued in level three of the fair value hierarchy subsequent to their write
down to fair value or fair value less costs to sell, as more fully described in
Note 14. The Company had no material non-financial assets or liabilities
recorded at fair value at December 31, 2012. The fair value of the
Company’s debt is valued in level two of the fair value hierarchy and
approximated the carrying value as the debt bears interest at floating rates
and the carrying value is repayable at par at any time.

NOTE 13 MANUFACTURING CONSOLIDATION PROGRAM

30,900
$ 127,763

15,264
$ 169,611

by expanding its manufacturing capacity in Sumter, South Carolina. This
new facility, with Kaydon’s existing Sumter facilities, was designed to
create a custom bearings center of excellence and to allow the Company to
grow its market share, realize overhead cost reductions and leverage its
engineering capabilities. In connection with this plan, the Company closed
its Mocksville, North Carolina manufacturing facility. This manufacturing
consolidation program is within the Friction Control Products reporting
segment. In 2011 the Company incurred $2.4 million for engineering,
relocation, recruiting, travel, training and other start-up costs in Sumter and
carrying and other costs in Mocksville associated with the manufacturing
consolidation program, including an adjustment to the carrying value of the
real property. In 2010 the Company incurred $0.4 million in selling, general
and administrative expense for one-time termination benefits earned by
employees in Mocksville.

In May 2010 the Company announced a plan to optimize its custom
bearings manufacturing capacity
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
The Company recognized non-cash cost of sales expense of $1.1
million in additional depreciation in 2010 associated with the closure of the
facility. In 2010, the Company also incurred $2.1 million in cost of sales
for engineering, relocation, recruiting, travel, training and other start-up
costs in Sumter associated with the manufacturing consolidation program.

The manufacturing consolidation program was in the Friction Control
Products segment and was completed in 2011.

NOTE 14 WIND RESTRUCTURING
In the third quarter of 2012, the Company completed a comprehensive
evaluation of its wind energy bearings business to align capacity with
expected future market needs and decided to restructure this line of
business. The decision to restructure this line of business was in response
to existing and expected conditions in the wind and military markets
resulting from the effects of the global financial crisis, worldwide fiscal
austerity, the emergence of new shale gas extraction techniques and
continued regulatory uncertainty at that time in the United States including
the uncertainty regarding the expiration of the federal Production Tax Credit
on December 31, 2012. Based on the Company’s evaluation and decision to
restructure this line of business, the Company determined that there were
indicators of potential impairment to the carrying value of certain assets that
became held for sale at September 28, 2012, and the ongoing value of
certain long-lived assets to be held and used. The Company performed a
recoverability test, assessed the fair value of the assets and determined that
the carrying values of certain assets were no longer recoverable and were in
fact impaired. The restructuring includes (i) the non-cash impairment of
wind energy production equipment in Monterrey, Mexico and Sumter,
South Carolina, certain portions of which are held for sale and certain
portions of which are held and used to service select wind energy
customers; (ii) the consolidation of one of the Company’s three facilities in
Sumter, South Carolina, previously devoted to the wind energy and
military ground vehicle markets, into other Company operations; and
(iii) workforce reductions and realignments in those facilities. In addition,
the Company expects to incur costs associated with the shutdown of the
Sumter

facility and transition costs related to the relocation of certain production
capacity. The Company expects that the restructuring will be substantially
complete by the end of 2013, potentially subject to continuing efforts to sell
equipment and the Sumter, South Carolina facility noted above.
The Company therefore recorded a pre-tax non-cash impairment charge
of $43.0 million associated with the wind restructuring. This charge
included the reduction of the carrying cost to fair value, less costs to sell,
for assets held for sale at September 29, 2012. These held for sale assets
include equipment used in the manufacturing of large diameter bearings
principally used in the wind energy business. The value of the assets held
for sale, which had a net book value of $31.5 million, were written down to
fair value, less costs to sell, and are recorded on the balance sheet at a value
of $6.5 million. The charge also included the impairment to fair value of
certain other equipment used in the manufacturing of large diameter
bearings which continues to be held and used. The Company, with the
assistance of a third party valuation firm, determined that the market
approach was the most appropriate to estimate fair value using comparable
sales data when available, or market derived valuation curves where
comparable sales data was not available. For building related personal
property assets and large over-head cranes, the fair value was determined
based on the estimated salvage value. The assets to be held and used, which
had a net book value of $22.8 million, were written down to the assets’ fair
value of $4.8 million and remain on the balance sheet in property, plant and
equipment, net. The Company also recorded a $1.1 million charge to cost
of sales associated with the write down of certain inventory associated with
the wind energy business, and a $1.3 million charge to selling, general and
administrative expenses associated with the write down of certain accounts
receivables associated with the wind energy business. The Company will
evaluate the fair value of the held for sale assets each quarter, and may
incur gains or losses due to changes in the fair value of the assets until they
are sold. In addition, each quarter the Company will monitor the assets to be
held and used for changes in market conditions that could require
additional impairment tests and potentially additional future impairment
charges.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
The Company recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses
severance costs of approximately $0.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012.
In connection with the shutdown of the Sumter facility noted above,
the Company expects to incur a total of approximately $2 million to $3
million in

equipment relocation costs, employee relocation, and employee separation
and relocated equipment startup costs, and other costs associated with this
program through its expected December 2013 conclusion. The wind
restructuring is within the Friction Control Products segment.

NOTE 15 UNAUDITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Income Statement Data
Net sales
Gross profit
Net income (loss) (1)(2)(3)(4)(5)(6)(7)
Per Share Data
Earnings (loss) per share – basic (1)(2)(3)(4)(5)(6)(7)
Earnings (loss) per share – diluted (1)(2)(3)(4)(5)(6)(7)
Dividends declared per share

First Quarter

Second Quarter

Third Quarter

ended

ended

ended

Mar. 31,
2012

Apr. 2,

$116,466
41,599
$ 12,121

$108,341

$

0.38
0.38
10.70

2011

38,822
$ 11,990
$

0.36
0.36
0.19

July 2,

June 30,

ended

Oct. 1,

Sep. 29,

Fourth Quarter
Dec. 31,

Dec. 31,

2012

2011

$ 110,516
39,638
$ 8,038

$ 108,113

2012
2011
2012
2011
(In thousands, except per share data)
$124,373
41,002
$ 11,694
$

0.37
0.36

0.20

$122,029
43,984
$ 14,158
$

0.44
0.43
0.19

$ 123,849

$ 121,637

36,488

42,842

$ (31,303)
$

(0.99)
(0.99)

0.20

$ 14,504
$

0.45
0.45
0.20

$
$

0.25
0.25
0.20

$
$

35,429
8,680

0.27
0.27
0.20

(1)

Net income and earnings per share include after tax costs related to the Company’s wind restructuring. These after tax costs equaled $41.7 million and $0.2 million in the third quarter 2012 and fourth quarter
2012, respectively. The earnings per share effect equaled $1.31 and $0.01 for the third and fourth quarter 2012, respectively.

(2)

Net income and earnings per share include after tax costs related to a customer arbitration. These after tax costs equaled $0.1 million and $2.5 million in first quarter 2012 and third quarter 2012, respectively. The
earnings per share effect equaled $0.08 for the third quarter 2012. These after tax costs equaled $0.3 million, $0.1 million, $0.4 million, and $3.8 million in first quarter 2011, second quarter 2011, third quarter
2011 and fourth quarter 2011, respectively. The earnings per share effect equaled $0.01, $0.01, and $0.12 for the first, third and fourth quarter 2011, respectively.

(3)

Net income and earnings per share include after tax costs related to the Company’s settlement of certain pension benefits. These after tax costs equaled $2.2 million in the fourth quarter 2012. The earnings per share
effect equaled $0.07 for the fourth quarter 2012.

(4)

Net income and earnings per share include after tax costs related to the Company’s 2012 recapitalization. These after tax costs equaled $0.9 million and $0.2 million for first quarter 2012 and fourth quarter 2012,
respectively. The earnings per share effect equaled $0.03 and $0.01 for the first quarter 2012 and fourth quarter 2012, respectively.

(5)

Net income and earnings per share include after tax costs related to due diligence, corporate development efforts and purchase accounting costs. These after tax costs equaled $1.1 million, $0.3 million, and $0.1
million for second quarter 2012, third quarter 2012 and fourth quarter 2012, respectively. The earnings per share effect equaled $0.03 and $0.01 for the second quarter 2012 and third quarter 2012, respectively.
These after tax costs equaled $0.3 million, $0.6 million, $0.1 million and $0.1 million for first quarter 2011, second quarter 2011, third quarter 2011 and fourth quarter 2011, respectively. The earnings per share
effect equaled $0.01 and $0.02, for the first quarter 2011 and second quarter 2011, respectively.

(6)

Net income and earnings per share include after tax costs related to the Company’s other restructuring and severance costs. These after tax costs equaled $0.1 million for first quarter 2012. These after tax costs
equaled $0.8 million, $0.4 million, $0.5 million and $0.2 million for first quarter 2011, second quarter 2011, third quarter 2011 and fourth quarter 2011, respectively. The earnings per share effect equaled $0.02,
$0.01, $0.02 and $0.01 for the first quarter 2011, second quarter 2011, third quarter 2011 and fourth quarter 2011, respectively.

(7)

Net income and earnings per share include after tax gains related to the curtailment of certain postretirement benefits. These after tax curtailment gains equaled $0.1 million and $0.1 million for second quarter 2011
and fourth quarter 2011, respectively.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH
ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE
None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Kaydon’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
effective disclosure controls and procedures, as defined under Rule 13a15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. As of the end of the period
covered by this report, the Company performed an evaluation, under the
supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management,
including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based
upon, and as of the date of that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or
submits to the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms, and
that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s
management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. No changes were made to the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934) during the last fiscal quarter that materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting.
Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting, and
Ernst & Young LLP’s report on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting are included in Item 8 of this Report and incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information regarding executive officers required by Item 10 is set forth
as a Supplementary Item at the end of Part I hereof (pursuant to
Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K). Other information required
by this Item is included in the Proxy Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting
of Shareholders of the Company, to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on or about April 5, 2013 and is incorporated herein
by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by Item 11 is included in the Proxy
Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company, to
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or about April 5,
2013 and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL
OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by Item 12 is included in the Proxy
Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company, to
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or about April 5,
2013 and the Equity Compensation Plan Information contained in Item 5 of
this Report are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED
TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by Item 13 is included in the Proxy
Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company, to
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or about April 5,
2013 and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by Item 14 is included in the Proxy
Statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company, to
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or about April 5,
2013 and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) 1. Financial Statements
The following Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company are included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data:

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2012 and 2011
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

2. Financial Statement Schedules
The following Financial Statement Schedule of the Company is filed with this Report:

II. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
3. Exhibits
The following exhibits are filed as part of this Report. Those exhibits with an asterisk (*) designate the Company’s management contracts or
compensatory plans or arrangements required to be filed herewith.
Certain of the following exhibits have been previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission by the Company pursuant to the
requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Such exhibits are identified by the parenthetical references
following the listing of each such exhibit and are incorporated herein by reference. The Company’s Commission file number is 1-11333.
Exhibit

Number

Description of Document

3.1

Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference)

3.1.1

Certificate of Elimination with respect to the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 3, 2010 and incorporated hereby by reference)
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Number

Description of Document

3.2

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Kaydon Corporation, (previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed May 26, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.1*

Kaydon Corporation Employee Stock Ownership and Thrift Plan effective June 1, 2010 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 7, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.1.1*

Kaydon Corporation Employee Stock Ownership and Thrift Plan superseding Provisions Addendum dated September 8, 2010, and effective
June 1, 2010 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended October 2, 2010 and
incorporated herein by reference)

10.2*

Amended and Restated Executive Management Bonus Program (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8K filed May 26, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.3*

Kaydon Corporation Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as amended and restated (previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 28, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.3.1*

First Amendment of the Kaydon Corporation Supplemental Executive Retirement Trust (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 28, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.4*

Kaydon Corporation 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan, amended and restated effective October 23, 2008 (previously filed as Exhibit
10.6 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 28, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.4.1*

Amendment No. 1 to Kaydon Corporation 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 22, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.4.2*

Form of restricted stock agreement (other than for CEO) to be entered into by the Company and award recipients under the Kaydon
Corporation 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
October 28, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.4.3*

Form of Kaydon Corporation 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (previously filed as Exhibit
10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 22, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.4.4*

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Kaydon Corporation 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan for James O’Leary (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 28, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.4.5*

Form of Phantom Share Award Agreement for Kaydon Corporation 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.13
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 28, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.4.6*

Form of Kaydon Corporation 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan Performance Award Agreement (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 22, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.5*

Kaydon Corporation Director Deferred Compensation Plan, amended and restated effective October 28, 2008 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 28, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)
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10.6*

Form of Letter Agreement for Change in Control Compensation Agreements (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 12, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.7*

Amended and Restated Change in Control Compensation Agreement dated October 23, 2008 between the Company and John R. Emling
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.5.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 27, 2008 and
incorporated herein by reference)

10.8*

Amended and Restated Change in Control Compensation Agreement dated October 23, 2008 between the Company and Peter C. DeChants
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.5.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 27, 2008 and
incorporated herein by reference)

10.9

Credit Agreement, dated as of March 26, 2012, among Kaydon Corporation, the subsidiary borrowers from time to time party thereto, the
alternate currency borrowers from time to time party thereto, the institutions from time to time parties thereto as lenders, JP Morgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, SunTrust Bank and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Syndication Agents, PNC Bank,
National Association, as Documentation Agent and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Book Runner (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 26, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.10*

Kaydon Corporation 2003 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan, amended and restated effective October 23, 2008 (previously filed as Exhibit
10.7 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 28, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.11*

Form of 2003 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan Restricted Stock Agreement (previously filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed October 28, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.11.1*

Form of 2003 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement (previously filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 28, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.11.2*

Kaydon Corporation Non-Employee Directors Compensation (previously filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.12*

Kaydon Corporation Executive Medical Reimbursement Insurance Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.13*

Employment Agreement entered into March 23, 2007 effective March 26 2007, as amended February 14, 2008 and October 23, 2008 by and
between Kaydon Corporation and James O’Leary (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
October 28, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.14*

Form of Letter Agreement relating to Employment Agreement with James O’Leary (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed May 12, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.15*

Amended and Restated Change in Control Compensation Agreement dated October 23, 2008 between the Company and Debra K. Crane
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.5.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 27, 2008 and
incorporated herein by reference)
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10.16*

Amended and Restated Change in Control Compensation Agreement dated October 23, 2008 between the Company and Anthony T. Behrman
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.5.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 27, 2008 and
incorporated herein by reference)

10.17*

Change in Control Compensation Agreement between Kaydon Corporation and Laura Kowalchik, dated October 29, 2010 (previously filed
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 29, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.18*

Change in Control Compensation Agreement dated March 5, 2012 by and between Kaydon Corporation and Timothy J. Heasley (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 5, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference)

10.19*

Employee Severance Agreement dated March 5, 2012 by and between Kaydon Corporation and Timothy J. Heasley (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 5, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference)

21

Subsidiaries of the Company

23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1

Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

31.2

Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

32

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

100

XBRL-related Documents

101

Interactive Data File
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

KAYDON CORPORATION

By:

Date: February 21, 2013

/S /

JAMES O’LEARY
James O’Leary

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: February 21, 2013

By:

/S /

TIMOTHY J. HEASLEY
Timothy J. Heasley
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 21, 2013

By:

LAURA M. KOWALCHIK
Laura M. Kowalchik
Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
/S /

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
/S /

MARK A. A LEXANDER
Mark A. Alexander

Director

DAVID A. B RANDON
David A. Brandon

Director

PATRICK P. COYNE
Patrick P. Coyne

Director

WILLIAM K. GERBER
William K. Gerber

Director

TIMOTHY J. O’DONOVAN
Timothy J. O’Donovan

Director

/S /

/S /

/S /

/S /

/S /
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JAMES O’LEARY
James O’Leary

Date: February 21, 2013

Date: February 21, 2013

Date: February 21, 2013

Date: February 21, 2013

Date: February 21, 2013

Date: February 21, 2013

Chairman
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SCHEDULE II. VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2011 AND 2010
Description

Balance at
Beginning of Period

Charged to Costs

$
$
$

$
$
$

and Expenses

Deductions (A)

Balance at
End of Period

Allowance for doubtful accounts, deducted from accounts receivable in the balance
sheet:

2012
2011
2010
(A)

1,417

945
1,183

1,400

592
103

$
$
$

(543)
(120)
(341)

$
$
$

2,274
1,417

945

Deductions, representing uncollectible accounts written off, less recoveries of accounts receivable written off in prior years and reclassifications.

Description

Balance at
Beginning of Period

Charged to Costs
and Expenses

Deductions (B)

Balance at
End of Period

Inventory reserve account, deducted from inventories in the balance sheet:

2012
2011

$
$
$

2010
(B)

21,600
16,198
15,909

$
$
$

2,125
5,583
1,434

$
$
$

(2,484)
(181)
(1,145)

$
$
$

21,241
21,600
16,198

Deductions, representing disposal of physical inventories previously reserved and reclassifications.

Description

Balance at
Beginning of Period

Charged to Costs

$
$
$

$
$
$

and Expenses (C)

Deductions

Balance at
End of Period

Deferred tax assets — valuation allowance:

2012
2011
2010
(C)

1,739
1,343
737

663
396
606

—
—
—

$
$
$

2,402
1,739
1,343

Charges to Costs and Expenses, representing foreign net operating loss, state tax credit and federal tax credit carryforwards for which utilization is uncertain.
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EXHIBIT 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT*
Name

Kaydon Ring and Seal, Inc.
Kaydon S. de R.L. de C.V.
Cooper Roller Bearings Company Limited
The Cooper Split Roller Bearing Corp.
Cooper Geteilte Rollenlager GmbH
Cooper Roller Bearings (Hong Kong) Company Limited

Industrial Tectonics Inc
ITI Japan Trading Company
Kaydon Custom Filtration Corporation
Kaydon Acquisition XI, Inc. (d/b/a Canfield Technologies, Inc.)
Kaydon Acquisition XII, Inc. (d/b/a Tridan International, Inc.)
Indiana Precision, Inc.
ACE Controls, Inc.
ACE Controls International, Inc.
ACE Controls Japan, L.L.C.
ACE Stossdaempfer, GmbH
Hahn-Gasfedern, GmbH
ACE Automation Control Equipment Private Limited
Purafil, Inc.
Purafil Europa B.V.
Avon Bearings Corporation
Cooper Roller Bearings Do Brasil Assesoria Empresarial Sociedade Ltda.
Ace Controls (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.
Kaydon Precision Components (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.
Fabreeka International, Inc.
Fabreeka GB, Inc.
Tech Products Corporation
Fabreeka GMBH Deutschland
Fabreeka – Canada Limited
Kaydon Bearings Private Limited

Place of Incorporation

Delaware

Nuevo Leon, United Mexican States
United Kingdom
Virginia
Germany
Hong Kong
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Indiana
Michigan
Delaware
Michigan
Germany
Germany
India
Georgia

Netherlands
Ohio
Brazil
China
China
Massachusetts
Massachusetts
Ohio
Germany
Canada
India

* All of which are, directly or indirectly, wholly-owned by the registrant.
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EXHIBIT 23
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-119637) pertaining to the Kaydon Corporation Employee Stock Ownership and Thrift Plan,
2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-105116) pertaining to the Kaydon Corporation Director Deferred Compensation Plan and the Kaydon
Corporation 2003 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan of Kaydon Corporation, and

3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-150715) pertaining to the Kaydon Corporation 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan;
of our reports dated February 21, 2013 with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Kaydon Corporation and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting of Kaydon Corporation, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Kaydon Corporation for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Detroit, Michigan
February 21, 2013
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, James O’Leary, certify that:
1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Kaydon Corporation;
2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4) The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5) The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

February 21, 2013
/s/ JAMES O’LEARY
James O’Leary

Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Timothy J. Heasley, certify that:
1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Kaydon Corporation;
2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4) The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5) The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

February 21, 2013

/s/ TIMOTHY J. HEASLEY
Timothy J. Heasley
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Source: KAYDON CORP, 10-K, February 21, 2013
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EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY
ACT OF 2002
In connection with the annual report of Kaydon Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2012 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, James O’Leary, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and I, Timothy J. Heasley,
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

February 21, 2013
/s/ JAMES O’LEARY
James O’Leary

Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ TIMOTHY J. HEASLEY
Timothy J. Heasley
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Source: KAYDON CORP, 10-K, February 21, 2013
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